
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police 
and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2020) came into force on Saturday 4 April 
2020 to enable councils to hold remote committee 
meetings during the Covid 19 pandemic period. This is 
to ensure local authorities can conduct business 
during this current public health emergency. 
 
This meeting of Standards Sub-Committee will be held 
remotely under these regulations, via the Zoom 
application and will be webcast to ensure accessibility 
by the public and press. 

Please ask for: 
Gurdip Paddan 
 

 
* Reporting to Cabinet 

1 September 2020 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 

 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL to be held on Thursday 10 September 
2020 at 7.30 pm via Zoom meeting. 
 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Corporate Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 
 

1.   SUBSTITUTIONS  
 

 To note any substitution of Panel Members in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules. 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

3.   MINUTES  

Public Document Pack



 
 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 30 July 2020 

(previously circulated).  
 

4.   NOTIFICATION OR URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 
13  
 

5.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda. 
 

6.   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS  
 

 Up to thirty minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Committee and to receive any petitions. 
 

7.   INTRODUCTION OF TWO DISABLED BAY PARKING PLACES IN CHURCH 
STREET, WELWYN (Pages 5 - 18) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) 
on the Introduction of two disabled bay parking places in Church Street, Welwyn.  
It was noted that there are currently no on street provision for disabled badge 
holders only. It was agreed for Parking Services to progress a plan for the disabled 
bays which is now proposed. 
 

8.   LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (Pages 19 - 86) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance), 
which provides an update on the Local Plan process, including the recent 
examination hearing sessions, the updated Objective Assessment of Housing 
Need (OAN) and recent letters between the Inspector and Head of Planning. 
 

9.   MHCLG WHITE PAPER - PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE (Pages 87 - 100) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance), 
which sets out a proposed response to the Government’s White Paper 
consultation. 
 

10.   NEW PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS (Pages 101 - 114) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) on 
the new permitted development rights to help kick-start construction and speed-up 
development as part of the response to the coronavirus pandemic.   
 

11.   REVIEW OF THE HATFIELD COMMUNITY SPORT FUND (Pages 115 - 124) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) on the Review of the 
Hatfield Community Sport Fund.  The review has taken place and associated 
recommendations and alterations are being proposed.  



 

12.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

13.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Panel is asked to resolve: 
 
That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 14 (if any) on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined 
in Section 100A(3) and Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended).  
 
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.  
 

PART II 
 

14.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF A CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT NATURE AT THE 
DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN  
 

 
Circulation: Councillors S.Boulton (Chairman) 

S.Kasumu (Vice-Chairman) 
A.Chesterman 
B.Fitzsimon 
G.Hayes 
T.Kingsbury 
 

J.Quinton 
D.Richardson 
A Rohale 
P.Shah 
P.Zukowskyj 
 

 Co-opted Members:- 
Tenants’ Panel Representatives 
To be appointed 

 
 Corporate Management Team 

Press and Public (except Part II Items) 
 
 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Gurdip 
Paddan, Governance Services on 01707 357349 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

Part I 

Item No: 0 
Main author: Matthew McCann 
Executive Member: Stephen Boulton 
Welwyn West Ward 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL – 10 SEPTEMBER 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES) 

INTRODUCTION OF TWO DISABLED BAY PARKING PLACES IN CHURCH STREET, 
WELWYN 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 The village centre of Welwyn has a wide variety of retail and services, and many 
customers visit by vehicle. There is limited scope within the village for major 
parking provision, the village centre is served by 90 minutes time limited spaces 
mainly in Church Street and High Street. Also, there are two car parks managed 
by the Parish Council, one in the High Street which has a 90 minutes stay limit, 
and one in Lockleys Drive in which spaces are unrestricted.  

1.2 Disabled badge provision within the village consist of disabled bays in High 
Street and Lockleys Drive car parks only. No on-street disabled bays exist, 
however, disabled badge holders can park in the time limited spaces when 
available for as long as they like. In 2019, the Department of Transport 
introduced a significant change since 1970 to disabled blue badge eligibility 
criteria. More of the UK population are now eligible to apply for a disabled blue 
badge. The eligibility now includes medical conditions where those with health 
issues, who cannot undertake a journey without there being a risk of serious 
harm to their health or safety or that of any other person, or without it causing 
them very considerable psychological distress.  

1.3 We recognise that shopping areas are subject to a wider and higher demand for 
blue badge parking, and currently, there is no enforceable on street disabled 
bays within Welwyn. During the social distancing measures put in by 
Hertfordshire County Council in High Street, it has highlighted that shoppers with 
mobility concerns are in more need of parking, which is  close as possible to the 
essential services and shops within the village centre. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 “The Borough of Welwyn Hatfield (Church Street, Welwyn) Disabled Bay Order 
2020.” That the Panel consider the objections received, and in addition to the 
issues raised in Section 15 around equalities and diversity. Having considered all 
the issues in this report, recommends to Cabinet to proceed with the creation of 
the above Traffic Regulation Order for two disabled bays in Church Street 
(Appendix B) for the reasons set out in this report. 

3 Explanation 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

 

3.1 In June 2020, a meeting was held online with Parking Services and the clerk of 
Welwyn Parish Council regarding disabled parking provision in the Village. It was 
noted that there was currently no on street provision for disabled badges holders 
only. Therefore, it was agreed for Parking Services to progress a plan for the 
disabled bays now proposed. Letters (Appendix C) were sent to nearby 
residents and business in Church Street/High Street to highlight the 
advertisement of the proposals and to invite any objections against such a 
scheme. The public notice (Appendix D) was advertised in the Welwyn Hatfield 
Times as well as being attached to posts near the proposed chosen area. During 
this period, following the recently introduced Traffic Orders Procedure 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 (Statutory Instrument 
No. 536) it was advertised on the public notice that the documents could be 
inspected upon our website or a printed copy could be sent via post upon 
request. Usually the deposit documents are required to be placed in a deposit 
box within the reception in our offices, however, this requirement is currently 
suspended as the regulations state “the order making authority must make 
appropriate alternative arrangements for making the documents specified in 
paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 and, as the case may be, documents specified in 
regulation 23(3)(c) and (e) available for public inspection.” 

3.2 Two objections to the proposals were submitted by email and are summarised 
below in Paragraph 4. The full objections are contained within Appendix A. 

4 Objections 

4.1 There are two objections pertaining to the proposals of disabled bays in Church 
Street. See Appendix A  

Below is a summary of the grounds for objection. 

a) There are barely enough parking places for all concerned and two 
whole parking bays effectively “removed” from general use, solely for 
disabled persons in my opinion is unreasonable 

b) “The 90 minutes limit in place could equally cause all the residents and 
business owners’ equal psychological distress and health and safety 
issues.” 

c) “If, as you say more people are eligible for the blue badge, including 
those with health issues who cannot undertake a journey without there 
being a risk of serious harm to their health or safety or that of any other 
person .......? do you mean that they are being driven as a passenger ? 
- as it would appear that anyone with these issues should not be on the 
road driving in the first place.” 

d) I’m also not sure why you mention about the ridiculous measures that 
have been put in place along the High Street out of the blue last week 
apparently to “aid” social distancing which is only making it more difficult 
for the disabled community. First, surely this is only a temporary 
measure?! 

e) I do not object to two new 'blue badge only' bays in Welwyn, particularly 
as the village has an ageing population in need of support. My only 

Page 6



 

 

 

objection is the creation of two bays, next to each other on the North 
end of the High Street. I feel it would better serve those requiring 
assistance to have a parking bay at the south end of High Street, 
potentially at the junction of School Lane or opposite Mimram Place, as 
well as a space at the north end. 

f) Parking at the south end of High Street, particularly at the junction with 
School Lane would go some way to easing a small amount of traffic on 
Mill Lane, as well as preventing drivers who may lack confidence in 
their driving ability (due to mobility or health issues) being forced into a 
narrow lane where they may be required to complete difficult 
manoeuvres or reverse for prolonged distances. 

4.2 Responses to 4.1: 

a) Disabled badge holders can utilise any parking bay that is available, 
however, as the objector highlights, there is a heavy demand on parking 
and creating dedicated disabled badge holder bays will alleviate the 
parking issues faced by blue badge holders who may not be able to 
walk a longer distance to the nearby shops or facilities. If the High 
Street/Church Street parking bays are full, currently drivers would have 
to seek parking much further away, either in Lockley Drive car park, or 
School Lane. 

b) A previous parking consultation introduced the 90 minutes time limit, 
and at this time it is not under review. If in the future the time limit was 
removed or increased, it would likely lead to even less chance of a 
disabled driver finding an available parking space near the village 
centre, as vehicles could stay longer, rather than use the all day free 
parking in Lockley Drive car park for longer stays as already the case. 
Business Owners are already less likely to utilise time limited spaces 
which have been made available for shoppers to access the retail 
provision. 

c) Disabled Blue Badge Holders do not have to be driving the vehicle to 
utilise the disabled bays and the bays can be used equally as a 
passenger or driver. Applicants for Blue Badges are assessed in line 
with the strict criteria set out by the Department for Transport, and 
DVLA oversee the fitness to drive for anyone holding a driving licence. 

d) The recent temporary social distancing measures made it clear that 
Blue Badge Holders can face unforeseen challenges when trying to 
access retail or other services. This was highlighted in our letter to show 
the difficulties faced by badge holders, and the disabled bay in the short 
term would assist with the social distancing measures; whilst in the long 
term would continue to benefit any badge holder parking in that area of 
the village. 

e) The comments regarding providing more disabled bays in the village 
can be considered in any future disabled bay review or consultations in 
this area. The School Lane end of High Street has a very limited 
number of 90 minutes parking bays (three bays on School Lane); 
however, there is much larger sections of double yellow lines at this end 
of the road, where a blue badge holder can park, for up to 3 hours as 

Page 7



 

 

 

 

long as a valid badge and clock are displayed and parking is not 
causing a major obstruction to the flow of traffic. The double yellow line 
(unless a loading prohibition applies) exemption for blue badge holders 
are in line with national regulations for blue badges. The High Street 
car-park is opposite Mimram Place where a set of two Disabled Bays 
are already provided to assist in those who may need to visit the 
doctors surgery at that location. 

f) The social distancing measures are currently a temporary measure 
introduced by Hertfordshire County Council. Any additional measures 
surrounding Mill Lane to stop extra traffic flow would be a subject for 
County Council to deal with as the Highway Authority. As mentioned in 
e) (paragraph above), there is already some double yellow lines in that 
area of the High Street that could be utilised by Blue Badge Holders. 

5 Legal Implication(s) 

5.1 TROs are created under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. Consultations 
follow a statutory legal process as set out in The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders 
(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996, as amended by the Traffic 
Orders Procedure (Coronavirus) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 
(Statutory Instrument No. 536). No other legal implications are inherent in relation 
into the proposals in this report. 

6 Financial Implication(s) 

6.1 The cost of TRO in this report will be funded through existing Parking Services 
revenue and capital budgets. 

7 Risk Management Implications 

7.1 Changing the parking conditions in the above-mentioned road could generate 
negative publicity. Some parking may be displaced into nearby roads. 

7.2 It is standard procedure to monitor new parking restrictions for the first 6 months 
after any are implemented. During this period all reports of safety issues or 
parking displacement will be recorded. If any significant safety issues are 
discovered during the monitoring period, Parking Services will investigate and 
carry out the appropriate remedial action. 

8 Security & Terrorism Implications 

8.1 There are no known security & terrorism implications inherent in relation to the 
proposals in this report. 

 

9 Human Resources 

9.1 There are no known Human Resources implications in relation to the proposals 
in this report. 

10 Communication and Engagement 

Page 8



 

 

 

10.1 When making any changes to parking restrictions there is a statutory consultation 
process set out in the Local Authority Traffic Orders (Procedures) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 1996 which the Council needs to adhere to. This includes 
consulting directly with all affected parties and a number of statutory consultees, 
such as the Police and Hertfordshire County Council.  

10.2 In addition, Notices are required to be erected within all roads affected and 
advertised in the local newspaper, in this case the Welwyn Hatfield Times. 

10.3 As mentioned in 3.1, Welwyn Parish Council are in favour of the introduction of 
two disabled bay in Church Street. Ward and County Councillors have also been 
consulted and no objections have been received regarding these proposals. 

10.4 This process has been carried out and there are no known implications in relation 
to the proposals in this report. 

11 Health and Wellbeing 

11.1 There are no known Health and Wellbeing implications in relation to the 
proposals in this report 

12 Procurement Implications 

12.1 There are no known procurement implications inherent in relation to the 
proposals in this report. 

13 Climate Change Implication(s) 

13.1 There are no known climate change implications inherent in relation to the 
proposals in   this report. 

14  Link to Corporate Priorities 

14.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority Protect and 
Enhance the Environment, and specifically to the achievement to Deliver 
Effective Parking Services 

 Protect and enhance the environment and deliver effective parking 
services; 

 Engage with our communities and provide value for money 

 

 

15 Equality and Diversity 

15.1 I confirm that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out.  

15.2 The EqIA found there is a potential for positive impact on Disability. The disabled 
bays proposed would provide additional dedicated parking bays for blue badge 
holders to park in, without time limit, in order to get closer access to shops and 
other services within the core of Welwyn.  

Page 9



 

 

 

 

 

Name of author Matthew McCann 01707 357304 
Title Parking Services Team Leader 
Date 12 August 2020 
 
Background papers to be listed (if applicable)   

 

Page 10



**  
-----Original Message-----  
From:   
Sent: 19 June 2020 11:39  
To: parking  
Subject: Church Street Disabled Bays Consultation (OBJECTION)  
 
 
WARNING: This email originated outside the WHBC Network. Please be extra vigilant when opening 
attachments or clicking links.  
.  
 
Dear Ka Ng  
 
I am writing to you to make an objection to the proposed disabled bays in Church Street, Wewyn 
Village  
 
Having lived in the High Street for over 10 years I see the increased amount of cars parking in the 
village to visit businesses OR as residence need to park there.  
 
There are already unreasonable & unnecessary time restrictions in place, with frequent presence of 
parking ticket officers enforcing this  
 
In my opinion there are barely enough parking places for all concerned and two whole parking bays 
effectively ?removed? from general use, solely for ?disabled, persons in my opinion is unreasonable  
 
I am not sure of the ?psychological distress? or ?health & safety? issues that you state when disable 
drivers can be parking in any of the available bays or car parks that have the same restrictions that 
apply to the whole community - which in turn because of the 90 minute limit currently in place could 
equally cause all the residents and business owners equal psychological distress and health and 
safety issues.  
 
if, as you say ?more people are eligible for the blue badge, including those with health issues who 
cannot undertake a journey without there being a risk of serious harm to their health or safety or 
that of any other person .......? do you mean that they are being driven as a passenger ? - as it would 
appear that anyone with these issues should not be on the road driving in the first place.  
 
I?m also not sure why you mention about the ridiculous measures that have been put in place along 
the High Street out of the blue last week apparently to ?aid? social distancing which is only making it 
more difficult for the disabled community. First of all surely this is only a temporary measure ?! and 
secondly all this has done is caused even MORE problems and ?psychological distress and health & 
safety issues? for ALL people including cyclists, buses, pedestrians, parking FOR ALL - business 
owners, residents, the disabled badge owners, etc  
 
In light of this Information I trust that the Disabled bays will be objected  
 
with kind regards  

  

App
en

dix
 A

Page 11



High Street  
Welwyn  
AL6 9EE  
 

 

**  
From: ]  
Sent: 25 June 2020 14:34  
To: parking  
Subject: Objection - MM/12141  
 
 
WARNING: This email originated outside the WHBC Network. Please be extra vigilant when opening 
attachments or clicking links.  
.  
Good morning,  
 
I write with minor objections to the proposed disabled parking bays in Church Street, jct High Street, 
Welwyn.  
 
I do not object to two new 'blue badge only' bays in Welwyn, particularly as the village has an ageing 
population in need of support. My only objection is the creation of two bays, next to each other on 
the North end of the High Street. I feel it would better serve those requiring assistance to have a 
parking bay at the south end of High Street, potentially at the junction of School Lane or opposite 
Mimram Place, as well as a space at the north end.  
 
The south end of High Street houses a doctors surgery (which serves the vast majority of the village) 
as well as two pharmacies, which are likely to be frequented by those with mobility or health issues. 
Further parking at the south end of High Street allows easier access to the shops at that end of the 
village such as the post office and second bakery, and is nearly equidistant to vital supplies such as 
Tesco, as parking at the north end of HIGH Street.  
 
Further, while the social distancing measures are in place High Street, Welwyn is a one-way system, 
placing an abnormally high amount of traffic through Mill Lane, a narrow lane with few passing 
points. Parking at the south end of High Street, particularly at the junction with School Lane would 
go some way to easing a small amount of traffic on Mill Lane, as well as preventing drivers who may 
lack confidence in their driving ability (due to mobility or health issues) being forced into a narrow 
lane where they may be required to complete difficult maneuvers or reverse for prolonged 
distances.  
 
To reiterate, I applaud the support shown for residents with disabilities through the creation of extra 
'blue badge only' spaces in the village centre, but I feel that those in need of these spaces could be 
better supported by providing parking in a number of places rather than grouped in one place.  
 
Kind Regards  
 

 

App
en

dix
 A

Page 12



Appendix B

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Ka Ng 
Corporate Director of Resources 

Environment and Cultural Services 

Reply To: address as below 
Ref: MM/12141    

Date: 15th June 2020 
Direct Tel: 01707 357000 

Email: parking@welhat.gov.uk 

«Organisation»  
«SAOName» «PAONumber» «StreetName» 
«PostTown» 
«Postcode» 

Dear Resident/Business Owner, 

Church Street disabled bays consultation 

Parking Services are currently carrying out a review of disabled parking bay provision within Welwyn 
village and propose to create two new ‘disabled badge holders only’ bays in Church Street, near the 
junction of High Street.  

Due to changes to blue badge eligibility criteria in 2019, more people are now eligible, including those 
with health issues who cannot undertake a journey without there being a risk of serious harm to their 
health or safety or that of any other person, or without it causing them very considerable psychological 
distress. We recognise that shopping areas may be subject to a higher demand for blue badge parking, 
and at this time, there is no enforceable on-street disabled bays within Welwyn. 

Also, during this period of social distancing coming into effect alongside the measures put in by 
Hertfordshire County Council in the High Street, we are aware that shoppers with mobility issues are in 
more need of parking as close as possible to access the essential services within the village centre. 

The proposals, as shown on the map on reverse of this letter, will be advertised in the Welwyn Hatfield 
Times on Wednesday 17th June 2020, as well as on our website at: www.welhat.gov.uk/parking/db/bays 

Objections to the proposals should be made in writing via post to Ka Ng, Council Offices, The Campus, 
Welwyn Garden City, Herts AL8 6AE OR by email at parking@welhat.gov.uk by Thursday 9th July 
2020, stating the grounds on which they are made. Any formal objections made would be fully 
considered, and we would notify you in due course of the process involved.  

General enquiries relating to the proposals can be referred to Matthew McCann, Parking Services Team 
Leader, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City AL8 6AE (01707 357000). Email 
parking@welhat.gov.uk  

We will write  to you again in due course with the outcome of this consultation, and any further course of 
action will be shared with you as well.  

Sent on behalf of  
Parking Services 

App
en

dix
C

Page 15

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/parking/db/bays
mailto:parking@welhat.gov.uk
mailto:parking@welhat.gov.uk


 

App
en

dix
 C

Page 16



WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 

THE BOROUGH OF WELWYN HATFIELD (CHURCH STREET, WELWYN) (DISABLED PARKING 
PLACES) ORDER 2020 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council (pursuant to arrangement made with 
Hertfordshire County Council) proposes to make the above Order under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 to 
introduce restrictions in Church Street, Welwyn as specified in the Schedule to this Notice. 

Full details of the proposals are contained in the draft Order, the plan and the statement of reasons for proposing which 
may be inspected on our website at www.welhat.gov.uk/parking/db/bays, or during normal reception opening hours at 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City from Wednesday 17th June 2020. A copy can also 
be sent via post during this period upon request. 

General enquiries relating to the proposals should be referred to Matthew McCann, Parking Services Team Leader, 
Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City AL8 6AE (01707 357000); email parking@welhat.gov.uk  

Objections to the proposals should be made in writing via post to Ka Ng, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden 
City, Herts AL8 6AE OR by email at parking@welhat.gov.uk by Thursday 9th July 2020, stating the grounds on which 
they are made.  

SCHEDULE: Disabled Badge Holders Only at any time – those sections of road listed below as set out in the 
Order and accompanying plan 

Parts of Church Street, Welwyn 

Ka Ng 
Corporate Director 
Resources, Environment and Cultural Services 
Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts AL8 6AE 

17th June 2020 

Consulting on this scheme is a statutory duty of Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council. Any personal data you provide in responding 
to this Notice will be treated as confidential but will be shared with WHBC Officers; Borough Councillors, Parish Councillors and 
contracted third parties who are involved in the statutory process. We will not share identifiable data with third parties outside of 
the statutory process. Guidance on your rights in respect of personal data are published in the Privacy Policy on our website, 
www.welhat.gov.uk  

App
en

dix
 D

Page 17

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/parking
mailto:parking@welhat.gov.uk
mailto:parking@welhat.gov.uk
http://www.welhat.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Colin Haigh 
Executive Member: Cllr Stephen Boulton 
All wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL – 10 SEPTEMBER 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 
 
LOCAL PLAN UPDATE 
 
1 Executive Summary 

 
1.1 This report provides an update on the Local Plan process, including the recent 

examination hearing sessions, the updated Objective Assessment of Housing 
Need (OAN) and recent letters between the Inspector and Head of Planning. 
 

2 Recommendation(s) 
 
2.1 That the Panel notes the updated Objective Assessment of Housing Need for the 

new plan period 2016-2036 is 715 dwellings per year, equivalent to 14,300 
dwellings over the plan period. 
 

3 Explanation 
 
Examination hearing sessions 
 

3.1 Examination virtual hearing sessions have taken place on 28 July for University 
of Herts representations, 29 July for northern village sites and 30 July for HS11 
and Marshmoor with the remaining sites in the southern villages on 18 August for 
Brookmans Park sites, 19 August for Little Heath sites and 26 and 27 August for 
Cuffley sites. 
 

3.2 There was also a taking-stock virtual hearing session on 27 August. 
 

Objective Assessment of Housing Need (OAN) 
 

3.3 For context, the objective assessment of housing need for Welwyn Hatfield is 
currently considered to be about 16,000 dwellings for both the original plan 
period 2013-2032 and the revised plan period 2016-2036.  This compares with a 
target of 12,000 dwellings in the Submitted Local Plan and a target of just over 
14,000 dwellings in the Proposed Changes to the Submitted Plan document that 
CPPP/Cabinet agreed for consultation in January 2020. 
 

3.4 ONS published the new 2018-based population projections in March 2020 and 
the household projections in June 2020.  It has been recognised by the Council, 
the inspector and other parties that these are an important piece of evidence to 
inform the objective assessment of housing need for the borough.  In summary 
they indicate that Welwyn Hatfield had 46,991 households in 2016 and project 
that this will increase to 53,178 by 2036.  This represents an increase of 6,187 
households over the new plan period.  By way of comparison the previous 2016-
based household projections contained figures of 46,993 for 2016 and 57,631 for 
2016, an increase of 10,638 households. 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



3.5 The Turley’s Updated OAN uses the 2018-based population and household 
projections alongside other factors to recommend an updated objective 
assessment of housing need of 715-800 dwellings per year for the original plan 
period of 2013-2032.  This equates to a requirement for 14,300-16,000 dwellings.  
For the revised plan period 2016-2036 the report places more justification on an 
OAN at the lower end of the range (715 dwellings per annum) as a result of the 
lower population projections in the later years.  This equates to a requirement for 
to 14,300 dwellings.  A copy of the Turley OAN report is in Appendix 1. 
 

 
3.6 Under the Government’s current standard methodology for calculating housing 

requirements, Welwyn Hatfield’s local housing need is 875 dwellings per year.  
This equates to a requirement for 15,750 dwellings over a plan period 2018-
2036.  This does not currently apply to the borough however as the Local Plan 
was submitted prior to this methodology being introduced and is being examined 
under the 2012 NPPF. 
 

3.7 The Government is currently consulting on fundamental changes to the planning 
system via a Planning for the Future white paper.  They are also consulting on 
proposed changes to the standard methodology for calculating housing need.  
This new methodology generates a requirement for 667 dwellings per year for 
Welwyn Hatfield.   
 

 
Inspector 
 

3.8 The inspector wrote to the Council on 2 July 2020 which queries the timetable for 
the submission and examination of additional residential sites.  It reminds of the 
urgency of concluding the examination.  A copy of this letter is in Appendix 2. 
 

3.9 The inspector wrote to the Council on 13 July 2020 which identifies that the 
Government has published new household projections and invites the Council to 
consider whether they represent a meaningful change in the housing situation.  A 
copy of this letter is in Appendix 3. 
 

3.10 The Head of Planning responded to the inspector on 27 July 2020.  It advises 
that committee meetings have not been able to take place to debate the results 
of the consultation or to consider new sites due to the coronavirus pandemic and 
the difficulties of hosting virtual meetings to debate complex matters.  It states 
that the Council now understands that hearing sessions will take place on all 
outstanding submitted sites in July and August, that the inspector will write an 
interim report and that this will then be presented to councillors alongside the 
results of the public consultation, updated OAN evidence, any new site analysis 
work and updated sustainability appraisal work, for them to consider additional 
residential sites.  It also advises that the Council has commissioned Turleys and 
Edge consultants to update our OAN evidence.  A copy of this letter is in 
Appendix 4. 
 

3.11 The inspector wrote to the Council on 13 August 2020.  It states that the Council 
appears to have misunderstood the sentiment of his offer to write an interim 
report on the soundness of the plan.  The purpose of the offer was to shorten the 
timescale rather than extend it.  He requests a revised sustainability appraisal for 
remaining Regulation 19 submitted sites.  He states that he considers some 
submitted sites to be unusually controversial and of questionable soundness in 
the context of the sustainability appraisal.  He would like to begin this analysis 

Page 20



a.s.a.p. to help conclude an appropriate interim report.  He states that it is critical 
to agree an end game for the examination.  He requests a draft programme of 
necessary steps be prepared by the Council, to be debated at a taking-stock 
virtual hearing session on 27 August.  A copy of this letter is in Appendix 5. 
 

3.12 The Head of Planning responded to the inspector on 24 August 2020.  The first 
letter responds to his overarching queries, including comments on the tests of 
soundness, sustainability appraisal and exceptional circumstances test.  The 
second letter responds to his OAN query by asserting that there has been a 
meaningful change to the objective assessment of housing need.  The third letter 
sets out a proposed timetable: which comprises receipt of the inspector’s interim 
report in late September / early October; CPPP to consider additional sites in late 
October; Cabinet and Full Council to consider additional sites in November; 
hearing sessions in January 2021.  A copy of these letters are in Appendices 6, 7 
and 8. 
 

3.13 At the taking stock session on 27 August 2020 the inspector stated that he would 
write an interim report for late September / early October and the Council 
confirmed that it would find suitable dates for CPPP and Cabinet meetings in 
October/November, leading up to Full Council on 23 November 2020.  At these 
meetings officers will present all relevant Local Plan material, including the OAN 
Update, a summary of the consultation responses, the inspector’s interim report, 
site update information and sustainability appraisal update information. 
 

3.14 The Inspector has commenced consultation on the updated OAN evidence and 
further evidence on Birchall Garden Suburb and Symondshyde. He is also 
consulting on recent legal decisions relating to Local Plans and exceptional 
circumstances for the release of land in the Green Belt. 
 

3.15 In addition to the potential for additional dwellings at Symondshyde the Inspector 
has also indicated that consideration should be given to increasing dwelling 
numbers at HS27 (Cuf1) and HS22 (BrP4).  In both cases the dwelling numbers 
had been limited because of highway capacity issues which were challenged at 
the hearing sessions. 

4 Legal Implications 
 

4.1 There are no direct legal implications associated with this report.  Officers are 
seeking to ensure that all actions and decisions are taken in accordance with 
relevant planning legislation. 
 

5 Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.  The cost of 
commissioning Turleys to update the OAN was funded from the planning policy 
budget. 
 

6 Risk Management Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct risk management implications associated with this report.  
Officers recognise that the objective assessment of housing need is important to 
ensure that we plan sufficient homes for the Local Plan to be found sound but not 
to exceed this need and release unneeded green belt land. 
 
 

Page 21



7 Security and Terrorism Implications 
 

7.1 There are no security or terrorism implications associated with this report. 
 

8 Procurement Implications 
 

8.1 There are no procurement implications associated with this report. 
 

9 Climate Change Implications 
 

9.1 There are no direct climate change implications associated with this report.  
Officers have previously acknowledged that there are climate change 
implications associated with the policies and sites identified in the Local Plan. 
 

10 Human Resources Implications 
 

10.1 There are no human resource implications associated with this report.  All work is 
being carried out by the planning policy team and other council departments. 
 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implications 
 

11.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications associated with this report. 
 

12 Communications and Engagement Implications 
 

12.1 There are no communication or engagement implications associated with this 
report.  Officers seek to communicate news on the Local Plan via reports to this 
Panel, updates on planning webpages and regular newsletters to everyone 
registered on our Local Plan consultation database. 
 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Business Plan 2018-2021 and 
particularly Priority 2 Our Environment, Priority 3 Our Housing and Priority 4 Our 
Economy. 
 

14 Equalities and Diversity 
 

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies. 
 

Name of author Colin Haigh 
Title Head of Planning 
Date August 2020 
 
Appendices: 
 
1. Turley OAN 
2. Inspector letter 2 July 
3. Inspector letter 13 July 
4. Head of Planning letter 27 July 
5. Inspector letter 13 Aug 
6. Head of Planning letter 24 Aug 

Page 22



7. Head of Planning letter 24 Aug 
8. Head of Planning letter 24 Aug 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

The implications of the 2018-based SNPP and 
SNHP on the Welwyn Hatfield OAN 
Welwyn Hatfield 

August 2020 

 

Page 25



 

 

Contents 

Executive Summary i 

1. Introduction 1 

2. Summary of the Evidenced OAN Position 4 

3. The Household Projections – ‘Starting Point’ 6 

4. Projected Population Growth 9 

5. Projected Household Growth 17 

6. Implications for Housing Need 20 

Appendix 1: Comparison of Headship Rate Assumptions  

Appendix 2: Modelling Assumptions  

Appendix 3: Implications for Job Growth  

Appendix 4: Older Persons Housing Need  

 

 

Client 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Our reference 
WELM2000 
 
August 2020 
 

Page 26



 

i 

Executive Summary 

1. The Council’s evidence base has consistently justified an objectively assessed need 

(OAN) for approximately 800 dwellings per annum in Welwyn Hatfield, originally in the 

context of official 2014-based projections but also following the release of apparently 

lower 2016-based projections1. The Inspector examining the Local Plan concluded 

earlier this year that this evidenced position was consistent with national policy and 

soundly based2. 

2. Such evidence is not necessarily outdated by the release of new projections, which 

simply offer a ‘starting point’ rather than ‘a prediction or forecast of how many houses 

should be built in the future’3. Turley has nonetheless been instructed – following a 

request from the Inspector – to consider whether the newly available 2018-based 

projections meaningfully change the previously evidenced position on housing needs in 

Welwyn Hatfield, in the context of relevant policy and guidance. 

3. The main or principal 2018-based projections suggest, as an ostensible ‘starting point’, 

that 408 dwellings per annum could be needed in Welwyn Hatfield, over the original 

plan period that has been consistently covered by the evidence base (2013-32). This is 

lower than the need for 601 dwellings per annum suggested by the 2016-based 

projections, and lower still than the ‘starting point’ of 670 dwellings per annum 

originally set by the 2014-based projections. 

4. Such a basic comparison should, however, be mindful of the unusual and exceptional 

decision made by the Office for National Statistics for this principal 2018-based 

projection to draw upon domestic migration trends over only two years rather than 

the traditional five. These two years – while admittedly benefiting from an improved 

method of estimating internal migration – saw an average net outflow of people from 

Welwyn Hatfield, in direct contrast with longer-term trends that have largely been 

verified. This approach produces a lower projection of population growth than has 

previously featured in the evidence base for Welwyn Hatfield, or than has typically 

occurred in all but four of the last 18 years. It cannot – on the basis of information 

currently available – be stated with confidence that short-term migration trends, 

themselves affected by a complex range of external factors, will continue and slow 

population growth in Welwyn Hatfield to this extent over the long-term horizon of a 

plan period. This report therefore treats the principal 2018-based projection with 

caution, in the knowledge that the relevant guidance simply did not foresee such an 

influential change in the methodology used to set a ‘starting point’. 

5. The report instead favours one of the official variants now released with this 

principal projection – termed the “alternative internal migration variant” – which 

uses a five year trend period, consistent with earlier official projections. Such an 

approach has been repeatedly found to produce reasonable demographic projections 

for Welwyn Hatfield. This projection suggests a higher ‘starting point’ of 597 dwellings 

                                                           
1 Welwyn Hatfield Technical OAN Paper: the implications of the 2016-based SNPP and SNHP on the Welwyn Hatfield 

OAN (EX103A) 
2 EX190 
3 ONS (29 June 2020) Household projections in England Quality and Methodology Information (QMI) 

Page 27



 

ii 

per annum. It is observed that the population growth annually suggested by this 

projection aligns precisely with the median recorded in Welwyn Hatfield since 2001, 

thereby suggesting a strong degree of alignment with the long-term trend. 

6. Whilst this projection demonstrates a strong correlation with the annual rate of growth 

suggested by earlier official projections, it also shows a clear lowering in the overall 

level of population growth over the plan period relative to these projections. Analysis 

suggests that this is largely caused by evidence of a narrowing surplus of births over 

deaths. This natural trend – in no way related to COVID-19 – has the potential to 

impact on long-term local housing needs, where people are no longer expected to live 

and occupy a home for as long as previously thought. It largely explains why even this 

variant 2018-based projection is lower than earlier starting points, and why a 

subsequently adjusted demographic projection – applying amended 2014-based 

household formation rates, as previously, in preference to 2018-based rates that retain 

a methodology criticised by Government – is similarly lower at 650 dwellings per 

annum. 

7. Where it is acknowledged that new projections do not automatically outdate earlier 

assessments, and that in taking into account the change in the methodology used in 

the 2018-based SNPP there is a degree of commonality in the annual population 

growth rate, it is considered that it remains justified to retain the OAN of 800 

dwellings per annum as an upper estimate of need. It is observed, however, that this 

would implicitly suggest that the OAN allows for a more pronounced market signals 

uplift, compensating for the lower absolute level of population growth projected 

under the latest dataset. The uplift would increase to around 23% through such an 

approach. The long-term worsening in market conditions – and the need for 

judgement, in the absence of a formulaic mechanism – means that this larger 

adjustment cannot be explicitly dismissed. It is, however, important to observe that it 

exceeds by some way the 10% adjustment previously considered reasonable for 

Welwyn Hatfield over this period. Where it is also recognised that in more recent years 

analysis suggests some improvement in affordability in the borough, this is considered 

to support a position where the existing OAN should be viewed as very much an upper 

estimate of housing need in the borough, recognising the natural demographic changes 

in recent years. 

8. In this context, and where it is again recognised that the scale of any market signals 

adjustment remains a judgement, it is considered that it would be equally justifiable to 

retain the 10% market signals uplift previously applied in producing the OAN when 

assessing the implication of more recent demographic projections. Consistently 

applying this level of uplift to the lower 2018-based projection with adjusted 

household formation rates (650dpa) would lead to a suggested lower need for 715 

dwellings per annum. 

9. This suggests that the OAN for Welwyn Hatfield can now be considered to fall within 

a range of between 715 and 800 dwellings per annum, over the original plan period 

(2013-32). The introduction of a range below the previously evidenced OAN is 

considered to be a reasonable response to an evidenced shift in demographics, which 

are primarily influenced by natural change factors and are therefore unrelated to 

Page 28



 

iii 

housing supply, and the uncertainties inherent in continuing to apply the relevant 

guidance in the context of new datasets. 

10. A slightly later plan period, running from 2016 to 2036, has also been discussed during 

the Examination. The analysis in this report suggests that it would be reasonable to 

expect a level of housing need towards the lower end of the range concluded above – 

in the order of 715 dwellings per annum – to be more representative for this later 

period. This is not to rule out a judgement being made that the need is as high as the 

upper end of the range, but it recognises that where projected household growth is 

naturally lower over this later period, the upper end of the above range (i.e. 800dpa) 

would implicitly apply a 35% uplift for market signals that is far larger than previously 

found to be justified in the Council’s submitted evidence. The uplift implied at the 

lower end of the range, at 21%, is not however dissimilar to the upper-end considered 

reasonable when previously exploring the implications of a later plan period, on the 

basis of a proven undersupply and worsening market conditions in the years that 

would be removed (2013-16). 

11. The above, and this report as a whole, provides a technical interpretation of the 

evidence. It is anticipated that the Council will apply its planning judgement in 

responding to the range of housing needs that has now been concluded, taking 

account of this analysis alongside other aspects of its Local Plan and the underlying 

evidence base. 

Page 29



 

1 

1. Introduction 

1.1 This technical note has been prepared at the request of Welwyn Hatfield Borough 

Council (‘the Council’) to consider the implications of the publication of the 2018-based 

sub-national population and household projections (2018-based SNPP/SNHP) which 

were released in March and June 2020 respectively.  

1.2 This is intended to assist the Council in providing its response to the Inspector’s note 

(EX190) in which he requests a view on whether the publication of the 2018-based 

household projections meaningfully change the housing situation which existed as of 

January 2020.  

1.3 This follows the Inspector’s conclusion, in his letter dated 15 January 2020 (EX178), 

that the evidence of an objectively assessed need (OAN) for 800 dwellings per annum 

was consistent with national policy and soundly based in the context of Welwyn 

Hatfield, following the release of the 2016-based SNHP. This followed production of a 

technical paper (EX103A) which considered the implications of this dataset4. The 

Inspector subsequently noted in EX190 that this conclusion recognised that ‘despite a 

reduction in the household forecast, [EX103A] argued that for affordability and other 

reasons, including government pronouncements on the housing need for younger 

people, as reflected in the ONS 2016 forecast, there had not been a meaningful 

change’.  

1.4 Like EX103A, this technical note provides supplementary evidence to that previously 

provided in relation to the assessment of housing needs in Welwyn Hatfield, including 

but not limited to the 2017 SHMA Update5. 

1.5 In presenting updated analysis which integrates the 2018-based datasets, this note 

follows a similar format to EX103A. Where the Local Plan continues to be examined 

under the transitional arrangements set out in the revised NPPF, the analysis 

necessarily evidences the need for housing using the methodology previously 

prescribed within Planning Practice Guidance6 (PPG) rather than on the basis of the 

standard method referenced at paragraph 60 of the revised NPPF and explained in its 

associated guidance. 

1.6 That said, at the time of writing it remains the case that the standard method 

continues to advocate the use of the 2014-based SNHP, in order to: 

“…provide stability for planning authorities and communities, ensure that historic 

under-delivery and declining affordability are reflected, and to be consistent with the 

Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes”7 

                                                           
4 Welwyn Hatfield Technical OAN Paper: the implications of the 2016-based SNPP and SNHP on the Welwyn Hatfield 

OAN (EX103A) 
5 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Strategic Housing Market Assessment Update 2017 (HOU/21)   
6 Available from the National Archives 
7 PPG Reference ID 2a-005-20190220 

Page 30

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20180607114246/https:/www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


 

2 

1.7 It is also the case that a recent High Court decision confirmed that the Government’s 

stated reservations around the 2016-based dataset ‘were not limited to the use of the 

projections in the standard method’8.  

1.8 In accordance with the Inspector’s request, the implications of the new dataset are 

considered through the presentation of updated modelling over both the original plan 

period (2013 – 2032) and the revised period (2016 – 2036). In presenting the analysis, 

the report primarily leads with illustrating the impact of the 2018-based dataset for the 

original period from 2013 to 2032. This recognises that this is a timescale common to 

the analysis presented in both the 2017 SHMA (HOU/21) and EX103A and therefore 

enables direct comparison. When considering the outputs for the revised plan period 

(2016 – 2036) in the concluding section of the report reference should be made to the 

conclusions in EX103B9 albeit it is important to note that the modelling in that report 

was only presented to 2034 from a base date of 2016 and outputs are not therefore 

directly comparable. 

Report Structure 

1.9 This report is structured as follows: 

• Section 2: Summary of the Evidenced OAN Position – EX190 summarises the 

Inspector’s judgement on the soundness of the evidence prepared to date, and 

in this context this section provides a concise explanation of the OAN concluded 

in the 2017 SHMA Update and its reassessment in light of the 2016-based SNHP 

in EX103A. This sets the context for considering the implications of the 2018-

based dataset following a comparable approach; 

• Section 3: The Household Projections – ‘Starting Point’ – a headline comparison 

of the growth suggested as a ‘starting point’ by the latest official projections, 

relative to the earlier 2016 and 2014-based datasets; 

• Section 4: Projected Population Growth – underlying assumptions on 

population growth are identified and interrogated. At the request of the Council, 

consideration is also given in this section to the potential implications of the 

ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and Brexit, where local data permits, on population 

growth until the end of the plan period; 

• Section 5: Projected Household Growth – analysis and comparison of the 

projected household formation rates within the 2018-based projections and the 

preceding 2016-based and 2014-based datasets as well as the adjusted 

formation rates used within the concluded OAN; and 

• Section 6: Implications for Housing Need – consideration of the implications of 

the latest household projections for the concluded OAN. This is followed by 

                                                           
8 Keep Bourne End Green vs Buckinghamshire Council [2020] EWHC 1984 (Admin), paragraph 119 
9 Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan Technical Note: Implications of a new plan period for the calculated housing need 

(June 2019) 

Page 31



 

3 

appendices considering the implications for future job growth (Appendix 3) and 

the housing needs of older people (Appendix 4). 

Page 32



 

4 

2. Summary of the Evidenced OAN Position 

2.1 In EX190, the Inspector provides a concise summary of his considered views on the 

housing need evidence used to support the Plan, which has been subject to discussion 

at the hearings during the examination.  

2.2 The Inspector references that where the submitted Local Plan drew upon 2016 SHMA 

evidence (HOU/18) – which used the 2012-based SNHP – the Council issued revised 

housing submissions which raised the proposed housing target from 12,000 to 16,000, 

the latter representing 800 dwellings per annum on average over the plan period 

(2012-32). This requirement was directly based on the conclusions of the 2017 SHMA 

Update (HOU/21) which applied a series of uplifts to its ‘starting point’ of the official 

2014-based SNHP as illustrated at Table 2.1 

Table 2.1: Adjustments to the ‘Starting Point’ in Arriving at the OAN 

 Adjustment 

dwellings per 

annum 

Dwellings 

per annum 

2013 – 2032 

% uplift from 

‘starting 

point’ 

The ‘starting point’ – 2014-based SNHP  670  

Adjusted demographic projection +51 721 8% 

Supporting likely job growth +0 721 8% 

Market signals adjustment (+10%) +72 793 18% 

Objectively assessed need rounded +130 800 19% 

Source: Turley; Edge Analytics 

2.3 As explained in HOU/21 and a subsequent technical note10 (EX82), the 2014-based 

SNPP were considered to offer a reasonable projection of population growth for 

Welwyn Hatfield. They were, however – in accordance with the relevant PPG – 

adjusted upwards to reflect the consequences of ‘under-supply and worsening 

affordability of housing’ and to ‘reflect appropriate market signals’11. The result was an 

elevating of the need implied by the official projections by 19% (allowing for a rounding 

of the calculated need). 

2.4 In EX190 the Inspector confirms his opinion that following the hearings in 2017 the 

revised housing requirements, and by inference the evidence in the 2017 SHMA, were 

soundly based. 

2.5 In 2018, the Office for National Statistics (ONS) published an updated set of household 

projections, having assumed responsibility for their production from MHCLG. The 

implications of this dataset were considered at the request of the Council through an 

updating of the housing need assessment in EX103A (June 2019).  

                                                           
10 Responding to the Inspector’s Observations through the Stage 2 Hearings (March 2018) 
11 PPG Reference ID 2a-015-20140306 and 2a-019-20140306 

Page 33



 

5 

2.6 This report concluded that there was a reasonably strong level of consistency in the 

overall level of projected population growth under the 2016-based dataset compared 

to the 2014-based dataset, and found that there were compelling reasons to retain the 

household formation rates in the latter dataset over the former. It was therefore 

considered reasonable to retain an OAN for 800 dwellings per annum over the 

submitted plan period (2013-32). Using the demographic assumptions in the 2016-

SNPP, the report confirmed that such a level of need would ensure that the forecast 

job growth used to underpin the employment policies of the Plan would not be 

constrained.  

2.7 In commissioning EX103A, the Council also commissioned a separate report from 

Turley (EX103B) to consider the scale of housing need over a revised plan period of 

2016 to 2034. This concluded that while this period would see a reduced level of 

household growth on an average annual basis, relative to the original plan period, the 

OAN of 800 dwellings per annum could continue to be reasonably applied over this 

period and similarly where this period was further extended to 2035.  

2.8 This reflected a judgement that such a level of housing need would allow additional 

headroom in the uplift from the ‘starting point’, where this was recognised as being 

either the 2014-based SNHP or the 2016-based SNPP with the 2014-based headship 

rates applied. This additional headroom was considered to principally serve to address 

evidence of worsening market signals which remained reasonable where it was 

recognised the borough had affordability issues when benchmarked against the 

national average and other comparator areas. EX103B confirmed at Table 4.1 that this 

meant that the OAN allowed for an upward adjustment from the starting point of 

between 23 – 32% (noting this allowed for a separate market signals adjustment of 

between 10% and 19%)12. 

2.9 In the context of the above evidence, the Inspector confirmed in EX178 and cross-

referenced in EX190 that the 2016-based projections and the associated housing need 

calculations did not lead to a ‘meaningful change’ in the housing situation, with 

reference to the PPG. In this context the Inspector concluded, with reference to the 

evidence prepared and heard in 2019 through the examination, that the OAN of 800 

dwellings per annum ‘was still consistent with national policy and soundly based’13. 

2.10 The remainder of this report considers, at the request of the Inspector and through a 

familiar approach, the extent to which the 2018-based household projections 

meaningfully change the housing situation from that which existed in January 2020 

when the Inspector made the observations referenced above.  

                                                           
12 EX103B, paragraph 4.4 
13 EX189, paragraph 3 

Page 34



 

6 

3. The Household Projections – ‘Starting Point’ 

3.1 The 2018-based household projections were released on 29 June 2020. This is the 

second set of projections to have been developed by the Office for National Statistics 

(ONS), following the 2016-based dataset, where the projections were previously the 

responsibility of the former Department for Communities and Local Government 

(DCLG). 

3.2 The analysis in EX103A commenced by simply comparing the new projections to the 

preceding dataset, but it is important to recognise at the outset that such a basic 

comparison can now be misleading. This is because of the unusual and exceptional 

decision to vary the length of the trend period for the main or ‘principal’ 2018-based 

projection, narrowing this for internal migration only to two years (2016-18) rather 

than the traditional five14. This was motivated by the ONS’s desire to avoid mixing 

different methodologies, following a change in the official method of estimating 

internal migration from 2016/17 onwards which was intended to improve the 

approach of estimating where people move to after leaving university15. The use of a 

two year historic trend is not a newfound endorsement of the principle of planning on 

that basis, however, and the ONS fully intends to revert to a five year trend – which has 

been consistently found to produce reasonable projections of population growth for 

Welwyn Hatfield – when data permits16. 

3.3 As a result of this exceptional change, while a comparison between official projections 

has traditionally illustrated the effect of continuing trends recorded in a rolling five 

year period, this is no longer the case. Such a comparison now could not separate the 

effect of more recent trends from that of using a shorter reference period. 

3.4 This limitation can, however, be overcome through reference to one of the four 

variants released with the principal 2018-based projection. The “alternative internal 

migration variant” (‘alternative 2018-based SNPP’ hereafter) pragmatically overlooks 

methodological changes and bases all assumptions on a five year reference period 

(2013-18), thereby aligning most closely with the underlying approach of earlier official 

projections that have been consistently deemed reasonable for Welwyn Hatfield17. It is 

considered to provide a more representative and consistent basis for comparing with 

earlier projections, especially once recognised that the PPG does not necessarily 

require use of the principal projection. Indeed, it is actually silent on how official 

variants should be treated, because their availability could not have been foreseen 

when the PPG was written several years ago. 

                                                           
14 ONS (24 March 2020) Subnational population projections quality and methodology information (QMI) 
15 ONS (last revised 2 July 2020) Population estimates for the UK, mid-2019: methods guide 
16 ONS (24 March 2020) Methodology used to produce the 2018-based subnational population projections for 

England. ‘Future projections will still use five-year averages for internal migration when a larger back series is 
available’ 
17 A ten year migration variant is also available, but the length of its trend period means that it is not comparable to 

the official projections cited as a ‘starting point’ for Welwyn Hatfield. The preceding evidence has at no point 
suggested that it would be more representative for a demographic projection in Welwyn Hatfield to draw upon 
trends over ten years rather than five, and for consistency this variant has not been favoured or presented in this 
report 

Page 35



 

7 

3.5 On this basis, Table 3.1 compares these two 2018-based projections with the preceding 

2016-based and 2014-based datasets, over the submitted plan period (2013-32).  

Table 3.1: Comparing Official Projections for Welwyn Hatfield (2013-32) 

 Change in 

households 

Associated need 

for dwellings18 

Dwellings per 

annum 

2014-based 12,345 12,730 670 

2016-based 11,082 11,425 601 

2018-based alternative* 10,054 10,365 546 

2018-based principal 7,521 7,754 408 

Source: ONS; DCLG 

* projection based on internal migration trends in a 5 year historic period, common to 

the approach of the 2014-based and 2016-based datasets  

3.6 The principal 2018-based projection for Welwyn Hatfield suggests a need for only 408 

dwellings per annum, when allowing for vacancy. This is nearly a third lower than the 

2016-based projection (601dpa), which was itself around 10% lower than the earlier 

2014-based version (670dpa) as observed at Table 3.1 of EX103A. 

3.7 The alternative 2018-based projection, which takes a more comparable approach to 

the earlier projections, does narrow this difference to an extent, being around 9% 

lower than the 2016-based projection. 

3.8 The evidence has consistently cited the applicable guidance to highlight that the official 

projections are intended to represent only a ‘starting point’, which should be 

thoroughly tested to determine the need for adjustment. Such adjustments were 

indeed deemed necessary in each iteration of the housing need evidence prepared for 

Welwyn Hatfield, to account for a range of factors relating principally to job growth 

and affordability. 

3.9 Equally, EX103A explained that whilst the relevant PPG was clear to state that the 

‘latest available’ household projections should form the starting point, the 

Government’s explicit retention of the 2014-based dataset makes the appropriateness 

of a literal translation less clear. This is still further complicated by the introduction of 

official variants, and the exceptional use of a shorter trend period in the “principal” 

ONS projection, which could not have been anticipated in the guidance. 

3.10 In this context, where the latest projections apparently continue to suggest a relatively 

significant change in the scale of projected household growth – as was the case with 

the 2016-based dataset – it remains critical to interrogate the individual factors causing 

this difference in the local context of Welwyn Hatfield. These are considered in the 

following sections, which as in EX103A respectively explore: 

                                                           
18 Vacancy rate of 3% assumed for consistency with earlier evidence 

Page 36



 

8 

• Population growth, given that the household projections are underpinned by 

assumptions on the scale and profile of population change. This is considered in 

section 4; and 

• Household formation, recognising the application of assumptions on how the 

population live in households. This is considered in section 5. 

Page 37



 

9 

4. Projected Population Growth 

4.1 The 2018-based household projections are, like preceding versions, underpinned by 

the 2018-based sub-national population projections which were released by the ONS 

on 24 March 2020. 

4.2 These projections provide an indication of the future size and structure of the 

population, assuming that recent demographic trends continue. It can be specifically 

noted, in the current context, that: 

• The assumed number of deaths follows the application of mortality rates, which 

vary by age and sex and continue to be linked to local trends over the preceding 

five years (2013-18). This clearly takes no account of the recent outbreak of 

coronavirus (COVID-19), which is reported to have caused excess deaths across 

England and beyond, above the number that would typically be expected based 

on past trends. This was particularly the case between March and May 2020, 

with the number of deaths since generally returning to trend19. Indeed, the 

mortality rate in June at a national level was actually lower than the average 

over the past five years20. This, plus the unprecedented nature of the pandemic, 

suggests that it would be premature and inappropriate to at this point query or 

adjust the mortality rates assumed for Welwyn Hatfield in the projections. This is 

still further justified when recognising that the number of deaths reportedly 

involving COVID-19 in the borough21 (208, to the end of June) is considerably 

smaller than the circa 1,000 deaths projected to occur in total this year in the 

official dataset; and 

• The projections continue to allow for a net inflow of international migrants, 

calculated relative to recent local trends but ultimately linked to a national 

assumption that the annual flow into the UK gradually reduces from its current 

level to align with the average recorded over the past 25 years. This means that 

the overall net flow into the UK is assumed to fall by around 28% within five 

years, under both the principal and alternative 2018-based projection. The ONS 

has deliberately made no attempt to predict the impact of ‘future political and 

economic changes’22, such as the demographic consequences of Brexit. However, 

the assumption of a reduced net inflow of international migrants does not 

contradict a reasonable view of the potential consequences of the UK’s 

departure from the EU. It is acknowledged that further variants are also available 

from the ONS which respectively allow for a larger or smaller net inflow of 

international migrants, the latter assuming a more pronounced reduction of 

nearly two thirds (64%). Given that international migration is not unique to this 

area, however, it must be recognised that the Government has provided no 

indication that it would be reasonable or justified for any area to plan on the 

                                                           
19 ONS (30 July 2020) Comparisons of all-cause mortality between European countries and regions: January to June 

2020, Figure 2b 
20 ONS (17 July 2020) Deaths involving COVID-19, England and Wales: deaths occurring in June 2020, Figure 12 
21 ONS (24 July 2020) Deaths involving COVID-19 by local area and socioeconomic deprivation: deaths occurring 

between 1 March and 30 June 2020 
22 ONS (2019) National population projections: quality and methodology information 

Page 38



 

10 

basis of such a markedly reduced inflow to the UK, or contra to that a scenario 

where the reduction is less pronounced. 

4.3 The earlier Table 3.1 highlighted that the official projections are offering an 

increasingly divergent view on the level of future household growth in Welwyn 

Hatfield. Figure 4.1 below compares the integral population projections in isolation, 

showing the overall projected change in population as well as the components of 

change. It is observed that whilst the principal 2018-based SNPP shows a level of 

population growth which is approximately 9,000 persons lower than previous official 

datasets, the level of change in the alternative migration variant is more comparable. 

This variant suggests that the population of Welwyn Hatfield will grow by around 

25,100 persons between 2013 and 2032, which is around 8% lower than the 2016-

based SNPP. 

4.4 Looking first at the alternative migration variant, it is apparent that the difference to 

the previous projections primarily reflects an assumption that natural change will have 

a less pronounced effect on the population, with the assumed net inflow of people 

comparable to that previously assumed. The lower growth projected under the 

principal 2018-based SNPP can be seen to primarily be the result of an assumption of a 

much smaller net inflow of people to Welwyn Hatfield. 

Figure 4.1: Comparing Official Projections of Population Change (2013-32) 

 

Source: ONS 

4.5 As with the previous reports, it is useful to compare not only absolute change but the 

average annual rate of growth. Table 4.1 confirms that the alternative variant shows a 

rate of growth that is nearly identical to the previous official datasets such that there is 

26,790 27,267

25,108

18,161

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

2014-based 2016-based 2018-based,
alternative

2018-based, principal

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 c
h

an
ge

 (
2

0
1

3
-3

2
)

Natural change Net migration Total population change

Page 39



 

11 

no difference between the projections when this rate is rounded to a single decimal 

place23. The principal 2018-based projection is in contrast markedly lower. 

Table 4.1: Projected Population Change in Welwyn Hatfield24 (2013-32) 

 Projected 

population change 

Proportionate 

change 
Annual change (%) 

2014-based 26,790 23.5% 1.1% 

2016-based 27,267 24.1% 1.1% 

2018-based alternative 25,108 22.1% 1.1% 

2018-based principal 18,161 16.0% 0.8% 

Source: ONS 

4.6 In understanding this divergence between the 2018-based projections further, it must 

be noted that the principal projection draws on only two years to establish its internal 

migration assumptions, as noted in section 3. In doing so, it exclusively focuses on two 

years (2016-18) in which there was an average net outflow of circa 314 people annually 

from Welwyn Hatfield to other parts of the UK. Such a large outflow had not occurred 

in any of the previous 15 years, as shown at Figure 4.2. The alternative 2018-based 

SNPP, in contrast, draws upon five years (2013-18) that saw an average net inflow of 

267 people each year, showing a much closer alignment with the long-term trend – an 

average net inflow of circa 373 people per annum since 2001 – while remaining 

considerably below occasional peaks.  

                                                           
23 The alternative 2018-based SNPP implies an annual growth rate of 1.06%, compared to 1.12% under the 2014-

based SNPP and 1.14% under the 2016-based SNPP 
24 As previously, official population estimates from the respective base years back to 2013 have been incorporated 

to arrive at an overall growth rate for the plan period (2013-32) 

Page 40



 

12 

Figure 4.2: Varying Migration Trends in Reference Periods for 2018-based SNPP 

 

Source: ONS; Turley analysis 

4.7 The ONS has explicitly warned of the ‘chance that using only two years of data will 

create unusual averages for local authorities experiencing abnormal migration 

patterns over this short period’25 (emphasis added). 

4.8 The recent trend cannot be completely dismissed as ‘abnormal’ when appreciated that 

the ONS has sought to improve its approach to estimating the movements of those 

leaving universities, like those in Welwyn Hatfield. However, the scale of departure 

from trends that have long since been verified – even prior to the 2011 Census, back to 

2001 – does suggest a need for some caution in interpreting the principal projection, 

not least given its exclusive focus on these two years in which the supply of housing 

may well have also influenced any migration trend. This is considered further below. 

Alignment with historic trends 

4.9 EX82 concluded that ‘the scale of growth projected under the 2014-based SNPP shows 

a strong alignment with the rate of growth evidenced by historic counts’26. The degree 

of alignment subsequently shown by the 2016-based SNPP led EX103A to the same 

conclusion27. It follows that the nearly identical rate of population growth implied for 

                                                           
25 ONS (24 March 2020) Methodology used to produce the 2018-based subnational population projections for 

England; “Data used” in section 6 (“Migration”) 
26 Paragraph 3.34, EX82 
27 Paragraph 4.6, EX103A 

-1,500

-1,000

-500

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2
0

0
1

/0
2

2
0

0
2

/0
3

2
0

0
3

/0
4

2
0

0
4

/0
5

2
0

0
5

/0
6

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
6

/1
7

2
0

1
7

/1
8

2
0

1
8

/1
9

N
et

 in
te

rn
al

 m
ig

ra
ti

o
n

 t
o

 W
el

w
yn

 H
at

fi
el

d

Net internal migration

Average in trend period for principal projection (2016-18)

Average in trend period for alternative projection (2013-18)

Trend period for alternative 

2018-based SNPP 

Trend period for principal 

2018-based SNPP 

Page 41



 

13 

Welwyn Hatfield by the alternative 2018-based SNPP can be reasonably judged to align 

with historic trends, unlike the principal projection. 

4.10 This is further illustrated by Figure 4.3, which compares the average annual rate of 

population growth implied over the plan period by the principal and alternative 2018-

based SNPP to historic annual change over the period to 2019. While this does suggest 

that the rate of population growth has slowed in recent years – a trend which had 

commenced when EX103A, which presented data to 2017, was produced – the higher 

rate of growth associated with the alternative 2018-based SNPP (1.1% per annum) 

appears more aligned with the long-term trend in Welwyn Hatfield than the principal 

projection (0.8%). Indeed, this figure of 1.1% actually represents the median growth 

rate over the entire period from 2001 to 2019, reaffirming that such a rate of growth 

would continue the typical long-term trend in Welwyn Hatfield. The principal 2018-

based SNPP suggests a markedly lower rate of growth, which has been exceeded in all 

but four of the past 18 years. 

Figure 4.3: Benchmarking Population Growth Assumed in 2018-based SNPP (2013-

32) 

 

Source: ONS 

4.11 It is acknowledged that the last two years saw a considerably lower rate of growth than 

now assumed by the principal 2018-based SNPP or than recorded historically, no doubt 

at least partially influenced by the provision of less than half the homes previously 

evidenced to be needed28. The unknown effect of this constraint, coupled with the 

implied and substantial departure from the long-term trend, suggests even where it is 

acknowledged that the ONS has sought to improve its methods for the most recent 

years that it would be sensible to exercise caution before assuming that the recently 

                                                           
28 The Council’s monitoring suggests that an average of 389 dwellings per annum were completed over this two 

year period (2017-19), which is less than half the objectively assessed need for 800 dwellings per annum 

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

A
n

n
u

al
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 c

h
an

ge

Historic 2018-based, principal 2018-based, alternative

Page 42



 

14 

lower growth trend will necessarily persist over the long-term horizons of a plan 

period. 

Alignment with earlier trend-based projections 

4.12 EX103A observed that the 2016-based SNPP – like the preceding 2014-based SNPP – 

would lead to a level of population growth over the plan period that was within the 

broad range previously formed by Edge Analytics’ modelling of numerous demographic 

trend-based projections29. 

4.13 A similar comparison exercise, presented in an identical format below, shows that the 

alternative 2018-based SNPP – while slightly lower than the 2014-based and 2016-

based SNPP – also falls within this range. The principal 2018-based projection, in 

contrast, suggests a lower level of population growth than previously projected based 

on past demographic trends in Welwyn Hatfield, including the official datasets back to 

the 2012-based projection. 

                                                           
29 Page 8 of the Technical OAN Paper (EX82) summarises the demographic scenarios developed by Edge Analytics 

Page 43



 

15 

Figure 4.4: Comparing Projected Population Growth (2013-32) 

 

Source: ONS; Edge Analytics; Turley analysis  

Summary 

4.14 Section 3 showed that the 2018-based projections have lowered the number of 

additional households estimated to form in Welwyn Hatfield over the plan period 

relative to earlier projections. This section has shown that a reduced level of projected 

population growth is a contributory factor but it has also highlighted that the scale of 

the reduction in terms of population growth is more modest, especially where 

comparison is made with the variant projection which uses a consistent approach in 

projecting past trends. 

4.15 The alternative migration variant of the 2018-based projections, which like earlier 

projections consistently bases migration trends on a five year reference period, 

continues to suggest that the population of Welwyn Hatfield will grow at the rate of 

1.1% per annum anticipated by the equivalent 2016-based and 2014-based projections. 

Such a rate of growth has been repeatedly found to be justified in the context of long-

10.6%

11.4%

13.6%

16.0%

20.3%

22.1%

23.5%

24.1%

21.2%

22.2%

23.7%

26.0%

26.4%

26.5%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30%

NPP 2018 (England)

NPP 2016 (England)

NPP 2014 (England)

SNPP 2018 (principal)

SNPP 2012

PG Long-Term (UPC)

SNPP 2018 (alternative)

PG 10yr (UPC)

SNPP 2014

PG Short-Term (UPC)

SNPP 2016

PG Long-Term (X)

PG Short-Term (X)

PG 10yr (X)

Earlier official projections Including adjustment for possibility of UPC

Excluding adjustment for possibility of UPC

National projections 

Page 44



 

16 

term historic trends in Welwyn Hatfield – actually representing the median annual 

growth rate since 2001 – and equally falls within the range of demographic scenarios 

previously modelled for the borough by Edge Analytics. 

4.16 It is recognised that the principal 2018-based projection does suggest a lower rate of 

population growth, below that recorded in all but four of the last 18 years and below 

the range previously anticipated in the evidence base. While it is accepted that this 

projection is exclusively based on population estimates developed with what the ONS 

considers an improved methodology, it cannot be ignored that this projection draws 

upon an exceptionally short trend period of only two years, when there was an average 

net outflow of people from Welwyn Hatfield in direct contrast with recent history. It is 

not considered possible to arrive at a judgement as to whether this explicitly short-

term trend will be representative of a longer-term reality. As the relevant PPG was not 

intended to address the consequences of such a methodological change, it is therefore 

considered that it is not a reasonable starting point for assessing housing need. The 

alternative migration variant in contrast is considered to mitigate this issue and 

provides an appropriate basis from which to assess the implications of a changed and 

updated demographic starting point.  

4.17 Where such a position is considered appropriate, the extent of any implied change 

when compared to preceding official projections used to calculate the OAN is 

significantly reduced. 

Page 45



 

17 

5. Projected Household Growth 

5.1 The 2018-based household projections are produced by applying age-specific 

assumptions on the rate at which individuals represent private households (‘headship 

rates’). 

5.2 These rates naturally influence the level of household growth projected over a plan 

period, but proved extremely problematic in the 2016-based projections following the 

implementation of a new methodology by the ONS. The Government itself expressed 

concerns about the reliability of these assumptions, and the ONS similarly emphasised 

a need for caution before presuming that its assumptions will necessarily materialise. 

This situation was summarised in EX103A30 and led to the application of alternative 

rates to the 2016-based SNPP, drawn from the 2014-based projections, which in turn 

directly informed the recommended retention of the OAN for 800 dwellings per 

annum. 

5.3 The ONS has made ‘no significant methodological changes’31 in producing the 2018-

based household projections, resulting in headship rates for Welwyn Hatfield that are 

nearly identical to the 2016-based iteration as shown at Appendix 1. This consistency 

of approach means that the previously identified concerns remain valid and highly 

relevant. 

5.4 It is therefore justified to repeat the approach of EX103A, applying 2014-based 

headship rates to the 2018-based SNPP to overcome identified limitations. This has 

again been modelled by Edge Analytics – using the methodology summarised at 

Appendix 2 – and is summarised in the following table, expanding Table 5.1 of EX103A 

to incorporate scenarios linked to the latest population projections. 

Table 5.1: Impact of Variable Headship Rate Assumptions in Welwyn Hatfield 

Population 

projection 
Headship rates 

Household growth 

2013-32 

Dwellings per 

annum 2013-32 

2014-based 2014-based 12,345 670 

2016-based 
2016-based 11,082 601 

2014-based 12,125 658 

2018-based 

principal 

2018-based 7,521 408 

2014-based 8,394 455 

2018-based 

alternative 

2018-based 10,054 546 

2014-based 11,010 597 

Source: ONS; Edge Analytics 

                                                           
30 Paragraphs 5.2 – 5.11 
31 ONS (29 June 2020) Household projections in England Quality and Methodology Information (QMI) 

Page 46



 

18 

5.5 EX103A explained that the application of 2014-based headship rates to the 2016-based 

SNPP produced a level of household growth, and housing need, close to the original 

‘starting point’ of the 2014-based household projections (658/670dpa respectively). 

5.6 Applying the same rates to the alternative 2018-based SNPP again uplifts the related 

household projections but does not produce the same level of household growth or 

housing need as previously. It suggests that 597 dwellings per annum could be needed 

to accommodate this projection of population growth. This is around 9% lower than 

the equivalent scenario linked to the 2016-based SNPP, which is proportionate to the 

difference between their overall population growth assumptions32. 

5.7 While the conclusion of the preceding section was that the principal 2018-based SNPP 

should not be used to inform the calculation of need, it is noted that the comparable 

figure would be 455 dwellings, notably some 200 homes per annum lower than the 

‘starting point’ in the 2017 SHMA. 

Adjustment for suppressed household formation 

5.8 The evidence base developed for Welwyn Hatfield has repeatedly highlighted that the 

2014-based headship rates are affected by the constraints that have historically faced 

younger households looking to form. 

5.9 The impact of an assumed recovery in younger household formation33, returning to the 

position of 2001, has been explored on numerous occasions, most recently in EX103A, 

with such modelling used to generate the concluded OAN. There is considered to be no 

valid reason why this adjustment, extensively debated during the Examination to date 

but found to be ‘soundly based’, should not again be applied when producing further 

modelling that continues to incorporate the 2014-based rates. 

5.10 Table 5.2 overleaf therefore confirms the housing need implied when the 2014-based 

rates are positively adjusted, in a comparable manner to the modelling presented in 

EX103A. This clearly elevates the housing need associated with the alternative 2018-

based SNPP to 650 dwellings per annum, albeit while remaining lower than equivalent 

earlier modelling linked to the 2016-based or 2014-based SNPP. For reference the 

equivalent figure for the principal 2018-based projection is 503 dwellings per annum. 

  

                                                           
32 While Table 4.1 highlighted consistency in the annual rate of population growth when rounded to a single 

decimal place (1.1%) the alternative migration variant of the 2018-based SNPP suggests that the population of 
Welwyn Hatfield will grow by 8% less over the entire plan period (2013-32) than suggested by the 2016-based SNPP 
33 Adjusting the headship rates of those aged 15-24 and 25-34 

Page 47



 

19 

Table 5.2: Impact of Adjusted 2014-based Headship Rates (dwellings per annum; 

2013-32) 

 Unadjusted 2014-based 

rates 
Adjusted 2014-based rates 

2014-based SNPP 670 721 

2016-based SNPP 658 712 

2018-based alternative 597 650 

2018-based principal 455 503 

Source: MHCLG; Edge Analytics 

Summary 

5.11 The level of growth implied by the latest 2018-based household projections continues 

to be influenced by their assumptions on the rate at which individuals form 

households. 

5.12 These assumptions are fundamentally unchanged from those applied in the earlier 

2016-based projections, which were acknowledged as being extremely unreliable and 

disregarded by the Government for the purposes of assessing housing need. This 

situation led EX103A to apply the rates previously used in the 2017 SHMA, drawn from 

the 2014-based household projections, to the 2016-based SNPP. 

5.13 Similar modelling, this time incorporating the most comparable variant of the 2018-

based SNPP, again elevates the 2018-based household projections but does not 

produce the same level of household growth or housing need as previously. It suggests 

that 597 dwellings per annum could be needed between 2013 and 2032, which is 

around 9% lower than the equivalent scenario linked to the 2016-based SNPP. This is 

proportionate to the difference in overall population growth during this time, 

notwithstanding that the average annual rate of growth is unchanged at 1.1% per 

annum when rounded to a single decimal place. 

5.14 The application of unadjusted 2014-based rates in this scenario does not, however, 

address the implicit assumption of worsening younger household formation, which has 

been repeatedly highlighted in the evidence base developed for Welwyn Hatfield. It 

has been considered reasonable to assume a recovery in younger household 

formation, returning to the position of 2001, and applying these assumptions suggests 

that 650 dwellings per annum could be needed to accommodate population growth 

projected by the alternative 2018-based SNPP over the original plan period (2013-32). 

While a positive adjustment, this remains lower than equivalent modelling linked to 

the 2016-based or 2014-based SNPP (712-721dpa). 

Page 48



 

20 

6. Implications for Housing Need 

6.1 The relevant PPG emphasises that establishing the future need for housing is ‘not an 

exact science’34. Household projections offer a ‘starting point’, but the ONS has 

recently stressed that they are ‘not forecasts’ nor ‘a prediction or forecast of how many 

houses should be built in the future’35. The release of new projections does not 

necessarily outdate earlier assessments of housing need36. 

6.2 Within this context, it could be justified in principle to simply retain the previously 

evidenced OAN of 800 dwellings per annum in Welwyn Hatfield. Such a position would 

acknowledge, based on the technical evidence in this report, that there has been little 

change in the annual rate of population growth suggested by the most comparable 

variant of the official 2018-based projections, relative to earlier iterations that were 

found to be reasonable for the borough. The analysis in section 4 of this report has 

shown that this variant – based like its predecessors on migration trends over five 

years, rather than the two years exceptionally used in the principal projection– 

suggests a nearly identical rate of population growth to earlier official projections on 

an average annual basis over the period to 2032. 

6.3 Consistency in the annual growth rate does not fully capture, however, what is a clear 

lowering in the overall level of population growth over the plan period in the more 

recent comparable 2018-based SNPP, primarily due to this projection’s assumption of a 

smaller surplus of births over deaths. Such a demographic change, shown by the latest 

official datasets and – for the avoidance of doubt – entirely unrelated to the ongoing 

COVID-19 pandemic given the 2018 base date, has the potential to impact on housing 

needs over the longer-term horizons of a plan period. 

6.4 Figure 6.1 shows that retaining an OAN of 800 dwellings per annum in this context 

would implicitly compensate for this lower demographic growth by allowing for a more 

pronounced market signals uplift, to around 23%. This is larger than the 10% 

adjustment applied in the 2017 SHMA and EX103A. 

                                                           
34 PPG Reference ID 2a-014-20140306 
35 ONS (29 June 2020) Household projections in England Quality and Methodology Information (QMI) 
36 PPG Reference ID 2a-016-20150227 

Page 49



 

21 

Figure 6.1: Implicit and Explicit Adjustments to the OAN for Welwyn Hatfield 

(2013-32) 

 

Source: Edge Analytics; Turley analysis   * alternative migration variant 

6.5 In considering the justification for retaining the OAN of 800 dwellings per annum, and 

therefore accepting the considerably larger market signals uplift from a lower 

demographic projection that would implicitly result from doing so, it is important – in 

the context of the PPG – to understand how market signals are changing. The 

continued release of affordability data, since the last iteration of the SHMA evidence, 

shows for example that the ratio between house prices and earnings has reduced in 

successive years – at both the lower quartile and median level – albeit while remaining 

relatively high in the context of longer-term and national trends. There remains 

evidence of a worsening trend over the long-term as recognised previously in the 

Council’s submitted evidence. 

670 601 546

721 712
650

+10% +10% +23%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2014-based 2016-based 2018-based*

D
w

el
lin

gs
 p

er
 a

n
n

u
m

 (
2

0
1

3
-3

2
)

Evolution of SHMA evidence →

Unadjusted household projection Adjusted demographic projection

Market signals adjustment

Page 50



 

22 

Figure 6.2: Affordability Ratios for Welwyn Hatfield (2009-19) 

 

Source: ONS 

6.6 The evidence of a recently improving trend does not necessarily prevent the 

application of a larger market signals adjustment to a lower demographic projection, 

particularly once recognised that this is ultimately a judgement – taking account of 

both short-term and long-term trends across a range of market signals – with no 

mechanism in the relevant PPG to formulate the level of adjustment necessary. It does, 

however, suggest that an uplift as large as 23% could now be viewed as relatively high 

in the context of the previously accepted justification for a more modest adjustment in 

the 2017 SHMA, and subsequently ratified as remaining appropriate in EX103A. 

6.7 In these circumstances, it could be equally viewed as reasonable to retain the 10% 

market signals adjustment previously applied in producing the OAN of 800 dwellings 

per annum, and apply this to the lower 2018-based demographic projection where the 

justification for using this dataset was accepted. This would suggest a need for 715 

dwellings per annum between 2013 and 2032. It is of note from Appendix 3 that this 

lower level of need would continue to support forecast job growth in accordance with 

the PPG methodology. 

6.8 This therefore leads to the conclusion that it is reasonable to suggest that the need for 

housing in Welwyn Hatfield over the period from 2013 to 2032 lies within a range of 

between 715 and 800 dwellings per annum. An OAN within this range is considered to 

be consistent with previous evidence, while reflecting the changing demographic 

circumstances of Welwyn Hatfield and using the relevant PPG methodology.  

6.9 The identification of this range deliberately retains the existing OAN as the upper end. 

This recognises the guidance which confirms that updated projections do not 

13.03

11.54

11.23
10.50

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

14.00

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

A
ff

o
rd

ab
ili

ty
 r

at
io

Lower quartile Median England

Page 51



 

23 

necessarily outdate earlier assessments but that this can now be viewed as 

representing an upper estimate of need should it be judged that longer-term market 

signals warrant a more pronounced uplift than previously considered necessary and 

appropriate. The lower end of the range, in contrast, applies a market signals 

adjustment that is consistent with earlier iterations of the evidence base, to a 2018-

based projection that is lower due to natural factors that are unrelated to housing 

supply. It is considered reasonable, in this specific context linked to the original NPPF, 

to account for such demographic shifts in the latest available datasets in establishing a 

range of OAN for Welwyn Hatfield. 

Implications for the alternative plan period (2016-36) 

6.10 While the above analysis has focused on a period that has been consistently covered by 

the SHMA evidence for Welwyn Hatfield (2013-32), the Inspector has also requested 

consideration of the implications of the 2018-based projections over an alternative 

plan period that has been proposed by the Council. This period runs from 2016 to 

2036. 

6.11 Turley was previously asked by the Council to consider the implications of moving the 

plan period, then assumed to end in 2034, in the technical note titled ‘Implications of a 

new plan period for the calculated housing need’ (EX103B), finalised in June 2019. This 

found that it would be ‘reasonable and justified’ to retain the OAN of 800 dwellings per 

annum over an alternative period. This conclusion was reached because the effect of a 

lower household projection, reflecting a gradual downward trend moving forwards, 

was offset by a larger market signals uplift that could arguably be justified by a 

rebasing to 2016 and the consequent omission of a period (2013-16) in which 

affordability had potentially been adversely affected by undersupply37. 

6.12 It remains the case that household growth in Welwyn Hatfield is projected to gradually 

slow under the favoured demographic projection, meaning that an annual average 

calculated over a later period will – as in EX103B – inevitably be slightly smaller than 

that calculated over an earlier timeframe such as the original plan period (2013-32). 

This means that an annual average calculated over the period from 2013 to 2032 

equates to 650 dwellings per annum, falling to 593 dwellings per annum when 

calculated over the period from 2016 to 2036. 

6.13 In principle, it can nonetheless be reasonable – irrespective of such variation in inputs – 

to apply an OAN calculated over one period to a new timeframe, as in EX103B. Doing 

so with the range concluded earlier in this section (715-800dpa) would again enlarge 

the market signals uplift applied to the lower demographic projection, as shown at 

Figure 6.3. An uplift as large as 35% would now be implied through such an approach at 

the upper end of the range (800dpa), reducing to 21% when an OAN of 715 dwellings 

per annum was applied over this alternative period (2016-36).  

                                                           
37 EX103B, paragraphs 4.3 and 4.4 

Page 52



 

24 

Figure 6.3: Illustrating Size of Market Signals Uplift over Alternative Plan Period 

 

Source: Edge Analytics; Turley analysis 

6.14 A market signals uplift of 21%, implicit at the lower end of the new range (715dpa) 

when applied to this later period, would be similar to – albeit slightly higher than – the 

adjustment of 19% applied to the 2016-based projections when previously moving the 

plan period in EX103B. It is noted that this in itself represented the upper end of the 

range considered reasonable38. The concept of a more pronounced uplift in moving to 

this plan period was considered appropriate where the under-provision of housing 

between 2013 and 2016 was recognised as a factor influencing the deterioration of 

market signals over the same period39. Whilst there is again a degree of judgement as 

to the setting of a market signals adjustment, albeit with the undersupply over this 

period remaining unchanged, the evidence of improving rather than worsening market 

conditions over more recent years would suggest that the implied level of adjustment 

using an OAN of 715 dwellings per annum would again be reasonable. 

6.15 At the upper end of the new range, however, the implicit uplift of up to 35% from the 

adjusted demographic projection would be substantially larger than previously found 

to be appropriate for Welwyn Hatfield in the evidence base, or discussed through the 

hearings to date.  

6.16 In this context, where the Council chooses a plan period running from 2016 to 2036, it 

is considered that emphasis could be reasonably placed towards the lower end of the 

housing need range concluded in this report, i.e. in the order of 715 dwellings per 

annum. As noted in the conclusion above, the implication of a lower level of need 

would primarily result from updated projections of natural demographic factors over 

this period, as opposed to factors influenced directly by the supply of housing. It would 

                                                           
38 EX103B, paragraph 4.4 
39 EX103B, paragraph 3.8 

546
481

650
593

+10 - 23% +21-35%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2013-32 2016-36

D
w

el
lin

gs
 p

er
 a

n
n

u
m

Unadjusted household projection Adjusted demographic projection

Market signals adjustment

← 715-800dpa → 

Page 53



 

25 

also be reasonable to assume, based on the information available for this revised plan 

period, that it would continue to provide a labour force capable of supporting job 

growth, as summarised at Appendix 3. 

6.17 Ultimately, whilst the above represents a technical interpretation of the evidence, how 

the Council decides to respond to the concluded range of needs, including a lower 

figure at the bottom of this range, is a matter of planning judgement. This will need to 

take account of the analysis in this paper and the implications on the other aspects of 

the Local Plan and its evidence base. 

Page 54



 

 

Appendix 1: Comparison of Headship Rate 
Assumptions 

 

Page 55



 

 

Appendix 2: Modelling Assumptions 

Page 56



 

 

  

Nexus | Discovery Way | University of Leeds | Leeds | LS2 3AA 
0113 819 5087 | www.edgeanalytics.co.uk 

Welwyn Hatfield 
Demographic Update                                  

Assumptions Note 

August 2020 

Page 57

http://www.edgeanalytics.co.uk/


Welwyn Hatfield – Data Inputs & Assumptions 1 

 

August 2020   

 

Acknowledgements 

Demographic statistics used in this report have been derived from data from the Office for National 

Statistics licensed under the Open Government Licence v.3.0. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The authors of this report do not accept liability for any costs or consequential loss involved following the use of 
the data and analysis referred to here; this is entirely the responsibility of the users of the information 
presented in this report. 

Page 58



Welwyn Hatfield – Data Inputs & Assumptions 2 

 

August 2020   

 

Data Inputs & Assumptions 

Population, Births & Deaths 

Population 

1.1 Historical population statistics are provided annually by the mid-year population estimates (MYEs) for 

Welwyn Hatfield. In this analysis historical MYEs are used up to 2018 for all scenarios. These are used 

as the base population for which the population is projected thereafter. 

Births & Fertility 

1.2 Under all scenarios, historical mid-year to mid-year counts of births by sex have been sourced from 

the ONS MYEs for the 2001/02–2017/18 period. From 2018/19 onward, counts of births have been 

specified, to ensure consistency with the respective Principal and Alternative Internal Migration 

projections of the ONS 2018-based official population projections for Welwyn Hatfield.  

Deaths & Mortality 

1.3 Under all scenarios, historical mid-year to mid-year counts of deaths by 5-year age group and sex have 

been sourced from the ONS MYEs for the 2001/02–2017/18 period. From 2018/19, future counts of 

deaths are specified, to ensure consistency with the respective Principal and Alternative Internal 

Migration projections of the ONS 2018-based official population projections for Welwyn Hatfield. 

Migration 

1.4 Historical mid-year to mid-year estimates of internal in- and out-migration, immigration and 

emigration by 5-year age group and sex have been sourced from the ‘components of population 

change’ that underpin the ONS MYEs up to 2017/18. Thereafter, future counts of internal in- and out-

migrants, immigration and emigration are specified, to ensure consistency with the respective 

Principal and Alternative Internal Migration projections of the ONS 2018-based official population 

projections for Welwyn Hatfield. 

1.5 Internal migration flows are estimated using data from the Patient Register (PR), the National Health 

Service Central Register (NHSCR) and the Higher Education Statistics Agency (HESA). International 

migration includes any ‘adjustments’ made to the MYEs to account for asylum cases. 

Households & Dwellings 

1.6 The household and dwelling implications of the population growth trajectory have been estimated 

through the application of household representative statistics, communal population statistics and a 

Page 59



Welwyn Hatfield – Data Inputs & Assumptions 3 

 

August 2020   

 

dwelling vacancy rate. These data assumptions have been sourced from the 2001 and 2011 Censuses 

and the 2014-based household projection models produced by the Ministry of Housing Communities 

and Local Government (MHCLG). 

1.7 In February 2019, after a ‘technical consultation on updates to national planning policy and guidance’, 

it has been confirmed that the 2014-based household projections should be used as the ‘baseline’ in 

the standard methodology for assessing housing need. As a result, this has been incorporated into an 

updated version of the PPG which will be taken as the standard method in future Local Plan 

inspections.1 

Household Headship Rates 

1.8 Under the HH-14 scenarios, the household headship rates for Welwyn Hatfield have been derived 

from the MHCLG 2014-based household projection models. The projections are derived through the 

application of projected household representative rates to a projection of the private household 

population. 

1.9 Under the HH-14 Return scenarios, adjustments have been applied to the MHCLG 2014-based 

household headship rates for Welwyn Hatfield, to consider the impact of higher household formation 

in the young adult age-groups. The adjustments have been applied to the 15–24 and 25–34 age 

groups, by which the household headship rates are returned to their respective 2001 values over the 

2020-2036 period. All other age-groups are unadjusted. 

Communal Population Statistics 

1.10 Household projections in POPGROUP exclude the population ‘not-in-households’ (i.e. the communal 

establishment population). These data are drawn from the MHCLG 2014-based household projections, 

which use statistics from the 2011 Census. Examples of communal establishments include prisons, 

residential care homes and student halls of residence. 

1.11 For ages 0–74, the number of people in each age group not-in-households is fixed throughout the 

forecast period. For ages 75–80+, the proportion of the population not-in-households is recorded. 

Therefore, the population not-in-households for ages 75–80+ varies across the forecast period 

depending on the size of the population. 

Vacancy Rate 

1.12 The relationship between households and dwellings is modelled using a ‘vacancy rate’. A vacancy rate 

of 3% has been applied, fixed throughout the forecast period. 

 

 
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-

method-for-assessing-local-housing-need 

Page 60

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need


Welwyn Hatfield – Data Inputs & Assumptions 4 

 

August 2020   

 

Labour Force & Employment 

1.13 The labour force and employment implications of the population growth trajectory under each 

scenario are evaluated through the application of three key data items: economic activity rates, an 

unemployment rate and a commuting ratio. 

Economic Activity Rates 

1.14 The level of labour force participation is recorded in the economic activity rates. Welwyn Hatfield’s 

economic activity rates by five-year age group (ages 16–89) and sex have been derived from 2011 

Census statistics, with adjustments made in line with the Office for Budget Responsibility’s (OBR) 

analysis of labour market trends in its 2018 Fiscal Sustainability Report2. 

Commuting Ratio 

1.15 The commuting ratio, together with the unemployment rate, controls the balance between the 

number of workers living in a district (i.e. the resident labour force) and the level of employment 

available in Welwyn Hatfield. A commuting ratio greater than 1.00 indicates that the size of the 

resident workforce exceeds the level of employment available in the Welwyn Hatfield, resulting in a 

net out-commute. A commuting ratio less than 1.00 indicates that employment in the area exceeds 

the size of the labour force, resulting in a net in-commute. From the 2011 Census ‘Travel to Work’ 

statistics, a commuting ratio of 0.77 has been derived for Welwyn Hatfield, indicating a net in-

commute. 

1.16 Under all scenarios, the 2011 Census commuting ratio of 0.77 has been applied, fixed throughout the 

forecast period. 

Unemployment Rate 

1.17 The unemployment rate, together with the commuting ratio, controls the balance between the size 

of the labour force and the level of employment available within Welwyn Hatfield. In each scenario, 

historical unemployment rates have been used up to 2019. From 2020 onward, the five-year average 

unemployment rate of 3.7% has been applied, fixed throughout the forecast period. 

 
2 http://cdn.obr.uk/FSR-July-2018-1.pdf  

Page 61

http://cdn.obr.uk/FSR-July-2018-1.pdf


 

 

Appendix 3: Implications for Job Growth 

The employment growth that could be supported by the OAN has been repeatedly modelled in 

the evidence base produced for Welwyn Hatfield. Similar outputs are available following the 

integration of 2018-based projections. 

EX103A estimated that circa 23,374 additional jobs in Welwyn Hatfield could be supported by 

the 2016-based SNPP, over the original plan period (2013-32), when assumed that the 

commuting ratio is fixed to that recorded by the 2011 Census40. 

It is now estimated that circa 19,667 jobs could be supported by the alternative 2018-based 

SNPP over the period from 2013 to 2032, when continuing to apply the assumptions detailed 

in EX103A and fixing the commuting ratio. This remains higher than the “Hybrid” employment 

growth scenario presented elsewhere in the Council’s evidence base, which envisages 16,600 

new jobs over the same period. It is of note that the calculation of labour-force growth is solely 

based on the demographic aspect of the OAN. Where it is reasonable to assume that new 

homes provided to accommodate the market signals adjustment would have a positive impact 

on the size of the population in Welwyn Hatfield this would potentially create a further pool of 

labour available to support job growth. 

There is currently no comparable figure over the later period that has also been considered in 

this report (2016-36). For completeness, however, the modelling suggests that circa 17,304 

jobs can be supported by the alternative 2018-based SNPP over this period. It is noted that 

EX103B identified that based on data accessed from the Business Register and Employment 

Survey Welwyn Hatfield saw a significant growth in jobs in the three years omitted from the 

start of the plan period, which would be netted off the ‘Hybrid’ employment growth scenario 

referenced above. The modelling clearly shows in this context that the projected growth of the 

population would enable a continued growth of the borough’s economy out to 2036 thereby 

indicating that there is no reason to suggest that projected demographic growth could not 

accommodate a continuation of forecasts of job growth where these were extended over this 

period.   

 

 

 

                                                           
40 The ratio ‘specifies the balance between the number of workers living in a district (i.e. the resident labour force) 

and the number of jobs available in the district’. The ratio of 0.77 resident workers per job in Welwyn Hatfield 
confirms that the borough was an importer of labour as of 2011 

Page 62



 

 

Appendix 4: Older Persons Housing Need 

The preferred demographic projection – namely the alternative migration variant of the 2018-

based SNPP, with adjusted 2014-based headship rates applied – continues to suggest that the 

older population of Welwyn Hatfield will grow over either of the periods considered in this 

report. 

These projections make assumptions about the number of people living in a communal 

establishment – such as a care home – rather than in private households, as most recently 

highlighted in Appendix 2 of EX103A. The methodology remains as previously described, 

specifically assuming that: 

• For all ages up to 74, the number of people in each age group that are not in 

households remains aligned with the 2011 Census value; and 

• For ages 75 and over, the proportion of the population that are not in households 

remains aligned with the 2011 Census, therefore varying in absolute terms throughout 

the modelling period depending on the size of this population. 

As a result, modelled growth in the number of people living in communal establishments is 

entirely attributable to an increased number of older people aged 75 and over. This implies a 

need for care and nursing homes. 

As summarised in the following table, the communal population is projected to grow by circa 

165 persons over the original plan period (2013-32) or by around 201 persons over the 

alternative plan period, from 2016 to 2036. This equates to between 9 and 11 persons per 

annum, which is smaller than previously estimated at Appendix 2 of EX103A (c.13pa). 

Table 4.1 Projected Change in Communal Population of Welwyn Hatfield 

 2013-32 2016-36 

Total change 165 201 

Average annual change 9 11 

Source: ONS; Edge Analytics, 2020 

As previously noted, these individuals are not assumed to live in dwellings and their housing 

needs are therefore separate from and additional to the assessed need for dwellings within 

this report. No attempt has been made to consider how other forms of specialist housing, 

possibly in different use classes, could meet this distinct need, recognising that uncertainties 

exist around residents’ requirements and indeed preferences41. 

Beyond this separate need for care homes implied by the modelling, the need for other types 

of specialist housing for older people can also be considered. The PPG continues to encourage 

                                                           
41 It is acknowledged that housing strategies or development could accommodate those assumed to be in need of 

bedspaces in residential institutions (Use Class C2) in other forms of provision, in Use Class C3. Where evidenced, 
this would directly elevate the overall level of housing need to include those households that are currently excluded 
from its underlying projection 

Page 63



 

 

the use of ‘online tool kits provided by the sector’ specifically referencing the Strategic Housing 

for Older People Analysis (SHOP@) toolkit produced by Housing LIN – used at Appendix 2 of 

EX103A, and back to the 2015 SHMA Partial Update – as ‘a tool for forecasting the housing and 

care needs of older people’42. It estimates the rate at which those aged 75 and over could 

require different forms of specialist housing provision, and suggests that there could be 

demand for: 

• 125 sheltered housing units per thousand residents aged 75 or over; 

• 20 enhanced sheltered housing units per thousand residents aged 75 or over; and 

• 25 extra care units with 24/7 support per thousand residents aged 75 or over. 

With the modelling suggesting that this elderly cohort (75+) will grow over either of the 

periods considered in this report, the toolkit suggests that an additional demand for specialist 

accommodation in Welwyn Hatfield can be expected. Table 4.2 suggests that there could be 

demand for 23 such units annually over the original plan period, which is lower than the 

estimate of 31 units per annum in EX103A. The average over the later plan period does, 

however, coincidentally align with the previous average at 31 units per annum. 

Table 4.2 Projected Need for Specialist Housing in Welwyn Hatfield 

 2013-32 2016-36 

Additional residents aged 75+ 2,606 3,651 

Demand for sheltered housing units 326 456 

Demand for enhanced sheltered housing units 52 73 

Demand for extra care units 65 91 

Total demand 443 621 

Average per annum 23 31 

Source: ONS; Edge Analytics, 2020 

Unlike the distinct need for care homes estimated at Table 4.1, those occupying these 

specialist housing units are otherwise assumed to live in private households. This means that 

such individuals are included in the assessed need for dwellings. 

                                                           
42 PPG Reference ID 63-004-20190626 

Page 64



 

 

Turley 
1 New York Street 
Manchester 
M1 4HD 
 
 
T 0161 233 7676 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Examination of the Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 2013-2032 
Inspector: Melvyn Middleton BA(Econ)  DipTP  DipMgmt  MRTPI                

Programme Officer: Mrs Louise St John Howe  
louise@poservices.co.uk  Mobile: 07789 486419 

2 July 2020  

Mr. Colin Haigh, 
Head of Planning, 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, 

By email only 

Dear Mr. Haigh,  

Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan Examination:- Timetable 

I refer to your letters of 7 January and 10 February 2020 when you set out a 
revised timetable for the submission and examination of additional residential 
sites to make up the shortfall in the existing proposals, when considered in the 
context of your authority’s Full Objectively Assessed Housing Need.  

In the first letter you pointed out that your proposed new sites would be 
consulted upon in the spring, prior to the local election purdah and that you 
would let me have preliminary results of this consultation post the local 
government elections but in time to formulate issues and questions for potential 
hearings in June (presumably late June).  

Your letter of 10 February informed me of the difficulties that you experienced at 
the Parking and Planning Panel meeting on 30 January but nevertheless 
maintained the commitment to progressing the consultation and indicated that 
following a Council meeting in late May, when a final agreement on the 
additional sites to be put before the Examination was expected, a revised list of 
sites would be submitted and that you would still be arranging dates for 
Examination Hearings to consider these in June. 

It is now the end of June and nothing has been submitted to the Examination, 
not even preliminary results of your consultation, which I understand, although 
extended concluded before the end of May. The local elections were cancelled 
because of the Covid 19 epidemic but I presume that your Council, like others, 
has continued to meet and make decisions through virtual meetings.  

I do not need to remind you of the already someone lengthy timescale of this 
Examination and the urgency of coming to a conclusion on its future, it now 
being one of a very limited number of plans that are being examined under the  

Programme Officer: Mrs Louise St John Howe, PO Services, PO Box 10965, Sudbury, Suffolk, CO10 
3BF 

Page 67

mailto:louise@poservices.co.uk


Examination of the Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 2013-2032

provisions of the 2012 Framework. In this context I would be grateful if you 
would submit the results of your recent consultation and the proposed sites that 
you are putting forward to make up your housing shortfall so that I can progress 
this part of the Examination in the immediate future. Would you also provide me 
with a draft timetable for the undertaking of the remaining stages of the 
examination from your perspective? 

The 2018 Household Forecasts were published on Monday. They have a bearing 
on plans being examined under the 2012 Framework. Would you therefore 
please review their implications and present your findings to the Examination as 
a matter of urgency. 

Yours Sincerely 

Mel Middleton
Melvyn Middleton 

       EXAMINING INSPECTOR

Programme Officer: Mrs Louise St John Howe, PO Services, PO Box 10965, Sudbury, Suffolk, CO10 
3BF 

 2

Page 68



1 
 

Examination of the Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 2013-2032 
Inspector: Melvyn Middleton BA(Econ)  DipTP  DipMgmt  MRTPI                

Programme Officer: Mrs Louise St John Howe  
louise@poservices.co.uk  Mobile: 07789 486419 

______________________________________________________________ 

13 July 2020 

Mr. Colin Haigh, 
Head of Planning, 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, 
 
 
By email only 

 

Dear Mr Haigh,  

WELWYN/HATFIELD LOCAL PLAN EXAMINATION 

OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS:  2018-BASED HOUSEHOLD 
PROJECTIONS 

1. When the Welwyn/Hatfield Local Plan was submitted for examination, 
in May 2017, its housing requirement had been calculated using, 
among other considerations, data from the 2012 based household 
projections, published by the then Department for Communities and 
Local Government in February 2015. The accompanying Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) update of April 2016 (HOU/21) 
identified a need for between 664 and 707 dwellings per annum, 
which was extrapolated to a need for 12,000 dwellings between 2013 
and 2032 in the submitted plan.  

 
2. Before the Examination commenced in 2017, the 2014 based 

household projections had been published and you arranged for your 
Full Objectively Assessed Housing Need (FOAHN) to be reassessed. 
The 2014-based projections were taken into account in the evidence 
provided by Turleys, on your behalf, in its SHMA update of April 2017 
(HOU/21). This supported the housing requirement figures in your 
revised housing submissions. These resulted in an increase in the 
plan’s housing target from 12,000 to 16,000. Following a Hearing 
session in October 2017, I concluded that these revised housing 
requirements were soundly based and invited you to submit 
additional sites for housing development to the Examination, to make 
up the shortfall, following a further review of the contribution various 
sites made to the purposes of the Green Belt.  

Page 69



2 
 

 
3. The Office for National Statistics (ONS), having taken over 

responsibility for preparing the household projections, published the 
2016-based projections in September 2018.  You again arranged for 
Turleys to update your housing need assessment. In its 2019 update 
to the FOAHN (EX103A), despite a reduction in the household 
forecast, it argued that for affordability and other reasons, including 
government pronouncements on the housing need for younger 
people, as reflected in the ONS 2016 forecast, there had not been a 
meaningful change. You nevertheless provided revised housing need 
forecasts based on a revised plan period 2016-2036. I held a further 
hearing session into housing need in December 2019 at which, 
among other things, the implications of the 2016-based projections 
for the Plan’s housing requirements were discussed. I subsequently 
concluded that there had not been a meaningful change.  In my 
letter to you of 15 January 2020 (EX178), I concluded that in the 
context of the housing situation in Welwyn/Hatfield a FOAHN of 800 
dwellings per annum was still consistent with national policy and 
soundly based.  
 

4. As you will be aware, the ONS published their 2018-based household 
projections on Monday 29 June 2020. Relevant guidance in the 
national Planning Practice Guidance on Housing and Economic Needs 
Assessment (Paragraph:016, Reference ID: 2a-016-201502271) 
advises that: 

 
The government’s official population and household projections are 
generally updated every 2 years to take account of the latest 
demographic trends.   
 
Wherever possible, local needs assessments should be informed by 
the latest available information. The National Planning Policy 
Framework is clear that Local Plans should be kept up to date.  A 
meaningful change in the housing situation should be considered in 
this context, but this does not automatically mean that housing 
assessments are rendered outdated every time new projections are 
issued. 

 
5. In order to determine whether or not the Plan’s housing 

requirements remain soundly-based, I will need to consider whether 
or not the publication of the 2018-based household projections 

 
1  This version of the PPG continues to apply to the Section 1 Plan because the Plan is 
subject to the transitional arrangements set out in paragraph 214 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (February 2019). 

Page 70



3 
 

represents a meaningful change in the housing situation from the 
situation that existed when I produced my letter of 15 January 2020. 

 
6. As a first step, I would like to invite you to address this question.  

Please could you provide a statement, with evidence-based reasons, 
as to whether or not you consider that the publication of the 2018-
based household projections represents a meaningful change in the 
housing situation from the situation that existed when I wrote that 
letter. If so, what are the implications for the housing requirement 
figures in the submitted Plan. Would you provide an assessment 
based on the original plan period as well as one for your revised 
period? 

 
7. Would you please provide that statement to the Programme Officer 

by Friday 31 July 2020, and publish it on the examination website.  
If you need more time, please let the Programme Officer know as 
soon as possible, including with justifiable reasons. 

 
8. It is likely that I will seek the views of examination participants on 

this question, once I have your statement and before making any 
further pronouncements myself. 

Yours sincerely 

Mel Middleton 

Melvyn Middleton 

Inspector 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 
 
Melvyn Middleton 
Planning Inspectorate 
c/o Programme Officer 
louise@poservices.co.uk 
 
Dear Sir 
 
Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 
 
I write in response to your letter dated 2 July 2020 concerning our Local Plan timetable. 
 
On the last occasion I wrote to you on 10 February 2020, I set out a timetable for public 
consultation on new sites in early 2020, the reporting of results to councillors in late May 
and hearing sessions on new sites in June.  In this regard I can confirm that the new sites 
document was issued for public consultation in mid February and that hearing sessions on 
Birchall Garden Suburb and Symondshyde took place in early March. 
 
You will aware however that the Government announced a major lockdown of the country 
on 23 March due to the coronavirus pandemic.  This has had multiple consequences for 
the Council and the Local Plan.  For the first weeks of lockdown the Council focused on its 
delivery of core services and emergency services for vulnerable residents.  All committee 
meetings were suspended until legislation for virtual meetings was introduced and suitable 
IT and governance arrangements were identified.  We also decided to extend the new 
sites consultation deadline until 1 May 2020 to ensure that everyone had time to comment. 
 
I can confirm that the Council received 771 representations to the consultation exercise 
and that these have all been published on our consultation portal.  
 
I must advise however that no committee meetings have yet taken place to debate the 
results of the consultation or to consider new sites.  This is because of the coronavirus 
situation and the difficulties of hosting virtual meetings to debate complex matters.   
 
It is also related to the content of your letter dated 13 February 2020 in immediate 
response to my letter, which states that: 
 
“I have decided to hold hearing sessions into all of the outstanding Regulation 19 sites…  
Following these hearings I will prepare an interim report for the Council that clearly 
identifies those submitted sites (if there are any) that I consider not to meet the tests of 
soundness…  I will also invite the Council to take appropriate action to resolve any 
outstanding matters of soundness.  This is likely to include the submission of additional 
housing sites for development.” 
 

Colin Haigh 
Head of Planning 

 
Reply to: address as below 

Date: 27 July 2020 
 

Page 73



 
 
 

It is also related to the content of your letter dated 19 March 2020 following the hearing 
sessions in March, which states that: 
 
“I have … decided that the most appropriate way forward now is to conclude the 
examination of the Regulation 19 plan … and to write an interim report on my findings, in 
which I will be inviting the Council to take the necessary steps to make the Local Plan 
sound.  That is why we have had hearing sessions this week and will be having further 
hearings … to consider everything in the Regulation 19 plan that has not yet been 
examined.” 
 
In order to assist the production of your interim report the Council has prioritised the 
preparation of hearing statements for the stage 8 hearing sessions and the production of 
the additional evidence you requested on Birchall Garden Suburb and Symondshyde, all of 
which have now been submitted to the examination. 
 
The Council is now working on the understanding that hearing sessions will take place on 
all outstanding submitted sites in July and August and that you will write an interim report 
thereafter.  This will then be presented to elected members, alongside the results of the 
public consultation, the implications for the Objective Assessment of Housing Need (OAN) 
of the publication of new 2018-based household projections, any new site analysis work 
and updated sustainability appraisal work.  This information will give members everything 
they need to understand which submitted sites are sound, which are unsound and how 
many more sites might be needed in order to achieve a sound plan.  Any additional sites 
that members select will then be submitted to you for examination. 
 
As a result it would be very helpful to know when you intend to publish your interim report, 
so that we can as quickly as possible schedule the necessary committee meetings. 
 
I also write in response to your letter dated 13 July 2020 querying whether the Council 
considers that the publication of the 2018-based household projections represent a 
meaningful change in the housing situation.  I can confirm that we have commissioned 
Turley and Edge consultants to update our OAN evidence to take account of these 
projections and make any judgements they feel able to about the possible impact of Brexit 
and the coronavirus pandemic on population growth and housing need.  As requested this 
work will be carried out for both the submitted plan period and the 2016-2036 plan period.  
There will therefore be a requirement for modelling.  It will also consider the issue of 
concealed households. We intend that this work will be completed by 28 August and will 
be submitted to the examination. It will be reported to first available meeting of Cabinet 
Planning and Parking Panel on 10th September.  
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Colin Haigh 
Head of Planning 

Page 74



Examination of the Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 2013-2032 
Inspector: Melvyn Middleton BA(Econ)  DipTP  DipMgmt  MRTPI                

Programme Officer: Mrs Louise St John Howe  
louise@poservices.co.uk  Mobile: 07789 486419 

13 August, 2020 

Mr. Colin Haigh,  
Head of Planning, 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

By email only  

Dear Mr Haigh
 

Welwyn/Hatfield Local Plan Examination Progress

Unfortunately you appear to have totally misunderstood the sentiment 
behind my offer to write an interim report on the soundness of the plan. I 
offered to prepare the interim report in order to further assist you in 
assessing the ways forward to make this plan sound, in an attempt to 
shorten the overall timescale rather than the reverse. My offer should not 
have been a signal to delay the presentation of new sites to the 
Examination, along with the accompanying Revised Sustainability 
Appraisal, material that has in any event been in the public domain since 
the end of 2019 and was deliberated and resolved thereon by your 
members in January 2020. Without the Revised Sustainability Appraisal 
my observations on the remaining Regulation 19 sites are likely to be 
imprecise and qualified, which I am sure you will agree will not be 
particularly helpful to you or to me.  
 
Much of what my report will say has already been said previously either in 
writing or verbally. As you know, a number of the sites that are proposed 
in your Regulation 19 Plan are unusually controversial and their 
soundness overall is questionable in the context of the Sustainability 
Appraisal that is before me. Whether that will be the case when I have 
had sight of the Revised Sustainability Appraisal remains to be seen. 
However, I do not consider a useful outcome will transpire if I ignore that 
document. That is why I referred to the use of the Revised Sustainability 
Appraisal in my note of 13 February.
 
My assessment of this information will be time consuming and I would like 
to begin this work ASAP so that I can conclude an appropriate interim 
report that is based upon up to date information and at an early date.   

Programme Officer: Mrs Louise St John Howe, PO Services, PO Box 10965, Sudbury, Suffolk, CO10 
3BF 

Page 75

mailto:louise@poservices.co.uk


Examination of the Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 2013-2032

As this information is already in the public domain and you now appear to 
be about to conclude your assessment of the consultation, I can see no 
reason why it should not be placed before the Examination in the near 
future.
 
I will have concluded my assessment of the Regulation 19 plan shortly 
and will then need to review where the Examination goes moving forward, 
assuming that it does. To that end, If you are unable to submit your 
Revised Sustainability Appraisal, with or without the additional sites and 
the consultation results, in the near future, then I would ask you to 
submit an explanation as to why you are unable to do so, together with 
an accurate commitment as to when the information will be presented to 
the Examination.
 
Moving forward it is now critical that we agree an end game for this 
Examination. I have asked the Programme Officer to arrange a Taking 
Stock virtual session on 27 August. From my perspective its purpose will 
be to publicly discuss the future of this Examination and hopefully to 
agree the necessary future actions that could lead to the adoption of a 
sound plan before too long. I would therefore be grateful if you would 
prepare a draft programme of the necessary steps that you consider you 
still need to take before adoption, for us to discuss on 27 August. I would 
be pleased to receive this by 24 August.
 
Yours Sincerely
 
Mel Middleton
 
Melvyn Middleton
 
INSPECTOR 

Programme Officer: Mrs Louise St John Howe, PO Services, PO Box 10965, Sudbury, Suffolk, CO10 
3BF 

 2

Page 76



  

 
 
 
 
Melvyn Middleton 
Planning Inspectorate 
c/o Programme Officer 
louise@poservices.co.uk 
 
Dear Sir 
 
Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 
 
The Council writes in response to your letter of 13 August 2020, and further to the 
Council’s letter of 23rd July. 
 
The Council continues to welcome the positive approach taken by the inspector to the 
examination.  This letter, as others, is written against the backdrop of the obvious 
difficulties the Council has, as a Green Belt authority, in meeting its housing need 
without making significant changes in relation to Green Belt boundaries.  The need for 
those changes has been well rehearsed in correspondence between the Council and 
the inspector during the examination and is not repeated here. 
 
The Council is keen to bring the examination to a positive conclusion at the earliest 
available opportunity.  With that in mind, the following chronology is suggested. 
 
Chronology going forward 
 
The Council anticipates that the provision of your interim report will be extremely useful 
for members in making what are politically sensitive decisions in relation to additional 
land that must go forward if the plan is to meet its OAN, whilst respecting a point that 
has been agreed within the examination from the start:  Ultimately, it must be for the 
Council to decide which sites come forward in order to meet that need.   It has to make 
those decisions in a situation where it find itself, politically, in a situation of “no overall 
control”.  This represents a change from the position when the plan was submitted.  
The vote to submit the plan was not unanimous.  Those decisions also need to be 
taken in the immediate context of updated population and household projections which 
indicate a prospect of the OAN being significantly reduced, potentially to a number 
around 14,300 units.  The analysis commissioned on behalf of the Council bearing on 
those new data and whether there constitute a meaningful change is contained in the 
Council’s other letter of today’s date. 
 
For example, having your detailed written views in relation to the overall strategy, 
vision, spatial distribution and approach to the strategic sites set out within the interim 
report will allow all those considerations to factor into the Council’s conclusion of the 

Colin Haigh 
Head of Planning 

 

Reply to: address as below 
Date: 24 August 2020 

 

Page 77

mailto:louise@poservices.co.uk


 
 
 

consultation process.  Otherwise, the risk is that the consultation process will have to 
be re-run once more with the benefit of your advice.  The Council is, of course, mindful 
that no changes can be made to the emerging Local Plan unless and until the inspector 
decides they are required as main modifications. 
 
Also, for the reasons set out in more detail below, if following consideration of the 
matters the Council has raised on the SA, you have remaining concerns as to its 
legality, it would be useful to have those in writing now so that appropriate advice and 
steps can be taken. 
 
On the assumption that an interim report may be available in September or October, 
the consultation results can be taken to CPPP in October, progressing to Cabinet and 
Full Council thereafter in November.  However, the Council is also mindful that the 
inspector may wish to hold a hearing session on the updated household formation 
information and any implications for the OAN, the Council’s current thinking is that 
could be dealt with during any further necessary hearing sessions before the proposed 
main modifications are finalised and consulted upon.  
 
The site selection decisions then taken can be considered during further examination 
sessions, with a view to firming up any main modifications required and proceeding to a 
main modifications consultation, a final report, and adoption of the plan. 
 
The draft timetable is set out in more detail as an attachment to this letter. 
 
The Council’s concerns 
 
In response to your letter, the Council notes that in previous correspondence it has set 
out some concerns in relation to (a) the approach to strategic sites and the test of 
exceptional circumstances (b) the need to test the plan against an evidence base 
which must be proportionate, but need be no greater than that; and (c) the appropriate 
approach to the tests of soundness.   
 
The Council invited the inspector to take those concerns on board in the preparation of 
the proposed interim report (which had by then been mooted as a key element of the 
way forward).  The same position exists in relation to the large number of sites which 
have been examined in great (i.e. more than strategic) detail through the examination 
process.  The Council has, to date, not had formal feedback on that letter.  I would 
therefore invite the inspector to consider them in drafting his interim report.  Those 
points are all central to bringing the examination to the early conclusion that all parties 
desire.  Similarly, the Council invites the inspector to take this letter into account in his 
interim report. 
 
The Council would suggest that recent examination sessions have demonstrated to the 
necessary standards (a) that those sites could soundly be included within the local 
plan; (b) the level of objection to actual sites is, for a Green Belt authority, in fact 
relatively limited and confined to (i) omission site promoters; (ii) local residents and 
interests groups.   Points put forward for consideration by objectors have not amounted 
to show-stoppers, or to demonstrate “death by a thousand cuts” across the plan as a 

Page 78



 
 

whole.  The Council does not consider that, for a Metropolitan Green Belt authority 
seeking to meet a large OAN for housing, the level of objections to this plan is actually 
larger than might be expected. 
 
The Council would repeat a point that risks being lost in the detail of the concerns 
which have been ventilated, and that is the lack of objection – across the piece - to 
these sites by statutory consultees (and indeed their positive support in relation to a 
number of choices made by the Council).  This factor can rightly be regarded as 
important and supportive of the strategic choices and site allocations made by the 
Council. 
 
The Council understands two concerns of the inspector’s that have been present 
through the more recent examination sessions.  First, that the Sustainability Appraisal 
(“SA”) must be sufficient to meet the legal requirements imposed upon it.  Second, that 
the evidence must be sufficient to support reasonable conclusions in relation to the 
presence of exceptional circumstances.  The Council has borne in mind the case law 
relating to SA challenges and of course agrees with the need to ensure the plan, if 
adopted, is adopted on a sound footing. 
 
The Sustainability Appraisal 
 
On the first point, the Council is quite clear that the Sustainability Appraisal met (and 
continues to meet) the legal tests required of it.  They are not the same as the 
soundness tests.  The SA does not make or dictate site selection decisions which, as 
explained in the Council’s evidence base, have a large number of inputs, many based 
on planning judgments that reasonable professionals might reach different views upon.  
Often, it is in the nature of the process that, those evaluative judgments are built one 
on top of another.  That is why the guidance provided by Ouseley J. in the Compton 
case, referred to in our earlier material to you, is key to determining whether criticisms 
which go to the soundness of the eLP, rather than some of the individual judgments, 
can properly be made.   
 
Site selection, on the other hand, will take in (amongst other factors) the SA, 
consultation comments, national policy and factors identified in the HELAA including 
deliverability of sites.  
 
LUC have very considerable experience of providing SA in support of local plans.  
Table 1.1 of the 2016 SA report set out where the various legal requirements of the 
SEA Regulations were met within the SA.    The Council is also confident that the SA 
complies with the guidance applicable to this transitional examination at PPG ID:11-
025-20140306.  We understand LUC has produced well over 100 SA/SEA documents 
using a similar methodology, assisting more than 70 local authorities to have plans 
found sound.  I produce those high level numbers to illustrate the pedigree of the 
approach adopted by the Council, having done its own research on these matters prior 
to engaging consultants.   
 
The level of objection to the SA is not, either in the experience of the Council or LUC, 
unusual.  Forty-one of the Regulation 19 consultation responses actually commented 

Page 79



 
 
 

on the content of the SA or HRA.  Of those 41, many simply refer back to the omission 
of a particular site and its inclusion or exclusion seeking different scoring for a 
particular site.  Such comments are, of course, entirely normal in this situation.  The 
basis for the scoring is set out in Appendix 2 to the SA report and what objectors have 
not managed to demonstrate is that the site scoring is internally inconsistent with those 
criteria (which were consistently employed over the area) in any meaningful way.  In 
fact, on a review of objector comments to the SA very few make reference to the SA 
itself or its methodology.  To rehearse a general point made above about statutory 
consultees but which also applies in this particular context, the statutory consultees for 
the SA – Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic England – commented at 
the scoping stage and did not object to the methodology proposed. 
 
The Council invites the inspector to consider two particular criticisms levelled at the SA 
by objectors as exemplars:  (i) the use of distance proxies; and (ii) the supposed wrong 
categorisation of some sites.   
 
On the first point, the use of distance as a proxy for harm in a strategic level document 
which by necessity considers large amounts of sites (over 70), and alternative 
strategies, is unobjectionable in principle.  There is no guidance against it, and 
inspectors elsewhere have accepted such an approach when used by LUC and other 
consultancies.  An example of another consultancy recently using that approach 
successfully is Chesterfield and Staffordshire Moorlands (2020).  Such an approach 
has benefits in enabling a consistent, transparent and objective way of assessing sites 
within a strategic process, using data that is available on a consistent basis across the 
plan area.  The consistency of the data is important because it is legally important for 
the alternatives to be assessed in the same level of detail for SA purposes:  ID:11-018 
20140306 (site selection ultimately may, of course, be different).  It would plainly be 
disproportionate to require SA objectives to each be informed by a detailed study 
across each of the large number of sites under consideration. 
 
In relation to the categorisation of sites, this represents a prime example of planning 
judgments being made by an independent consultancy.  None of those judgments have 
been demonstrated to be “irrational” or “off the wall” in terms of the criteria to be 
applied, or their individual application.  Recent examination sessions have been littered 
with comments by objectors that issues have been given “a little too much” weight, or 
similar variants.  But that does not come close to demonstrating an unreasonable 
judgment, still less an unreasonable judgment against published and transparent 
criteria; but rather simply a difference in professional evaluation.  It is also important to 
bear in mind that the criteria operate as bands across a spectrum, rather than seeking 
to isolate with a numerical score (or otherwise) precisely where a site lands for any 
given objective.  So, for example, there may be differences between sites which both 
score a double positive.  One may lie at the cusp of meeting the double positive, and 
another may be comfortably within that part of the spectrum, yet another may lie at the 
far end of a double positive.  All of this underlines why the proper function of the SA is 
to inform rather than dictate the plan making process, and that is the way the legislation 
and guidance is drawn.  The importance of the SA to the overall plan making process 
should not, therefore, be overstated. 
 

Page 80



 
 

Lastly, there appears in some of the representations to be concern about the use of the 
terms “likely” and “potential” in the SA.  But the use of (and contrast in) these terms is 
deliberate and a matter of judgment.  Likely is the word used in the Regulations, but the 
SA also in its criteria and approach looks to account for uncertainties.  Therefore, to 
recognise such uncertainties from time to time “potential” is used.  The use of these 
alternative terms does not indicate any legal error in the document. 
 
The Planning Practice Guidance on Strategic Environmental Assessment and 
Sustainability Appraisal uses both terms. For example ‘potential’ effects are referred to 
in the opening section to the guidance Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 11-001-20190722 
and again in Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 11-007-20140306. Elsewhere in the 
guidance there is reference to ‘likely effects’ for example at Paragraph: 003 Reference 
ID: 11-003-20190722. 
 
The Updated Sustainability Appraisal 
 
For the reasons set out above the Updated Sustainability Appraisal uses the same 
methodological approach as the SA.  It simply considers a different range of sites and 
uses updated evidence to inform some of the judgments in the Updated SA. 
 
The Council will supply the Updated Sustainability Appraisal prior to your interim report 
should you still wish to have it, but would point out that because it is not yet an 
examination document no party has yet had the opportunity to comment upon it in the 
examination itself (in contrast to the 2016 SA).  It therefore seems to the Council most 
appropriate for that document to be introduced to the examination once the additional 
sites consultation is concluded with the benefit of your interim report on the Regulation 
19 plan as submitted.  In any event we would invite you to make clear that any 
provisional observations you make on that document are made without the benefit of 
hearing parties to the examination upon it. 
 
A Revised Sustainability Appraisal would be expected in due course to accompany the 
main modifications that you consider are required to render the plan sound.  At that 
stage, any changes to the methodology that you decide are necessary in order for it to 
meet the legal tests can be made.  The Council anticipated that a provisional statement 
of those concerns would appear in your interim report, thus allowing that part of the 
process to move towards completion.   
 
The Exceptional Circumstances test 
 
The Exceptional Circumstances test has been the subject of considerable discussion 
through the examination process to date, and your approach was set out in EX39.  The 
Council agrees with that approach which it considers consistent with the up to date 
reaffirmation in Keep Bourne End Green [2020] EWHC 1984 (Admin) of the pre-
existing guidance given in IM Properties, Calverton, Compton and the more recent 
Leeds cases.  Paras 146-155 of that judgment rehearse the now familiar principles.  
Importantly, there is no sequential test (or anything akin to it) in the 2012 guidance:  It 
is not necessary that Green Belt land is considered as a matter of last resort.  The 

Page 81



 
 
 

Council’s approach to this guidance (albeit prior to the reaffirmation provided by Keep 
Bourne End Green) was summarised in its note of 19th June 2020. 
 
The Council draws attention to the fact that the observations Ouseley J. made in 
Compton about the correct approach to the examination process, in particular that an 
inspector is not conducting “a series of mini-inquiries into participants’/objectors’ 
proposed allocations” and that “A plan is not to be judged unsound by an inspector 
simply because there might be a better way of dealing with an issue, or because the 
inspector would have preferred a different approach, after hearing representations” 
(see Compton at [18] and Cooper (2017) at [28], referred to in Compton at [19]) were 
made and applied specifically in the context of a challenge to the release of Green Belt 
land by Guildford Borough Council.  Therefore, they apply equally here. 
 
Applying that approach, the Council is clear that the release of the Green Belt sites 
identified through the Local Plan process is based on rational judgments which allowed 
the Council to decide and place appropriate weight upon the need to meet housing and 
the appropriate distribution of housing across the borough, as well as a rational 
assessment of the site specific circumstances for the sites under consideration.   
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 

  
 
Colin Haigh 
Head of Planning 

Page 82



  

 
 
 
Melvyn Middleton 
Planning Inspectorate 
c/o Programme Officer 
louise@poservices.co.uk 
 
Dear Sir 
 
Welwyn Hatfield Local Plan 
 
The Council writes in response to your letter of 13 July 2020, and further to the 
Council’s letter of 23rd July. 
 
The Council’s consultants Turley have now completed their analysis of the implications 
for the OAN of the 2018 Household projections for both the 2013-32 submitted plan 
period and the revised plan period 2016-36. 
 
Turley has analysed the different population and household scenarios produced by the 
Office of National Statistics which is informed by updated modelling produced by Edge 
Analytics. Their conclusions are set out in the Executive Summary and discussed in 
more detail in their report. 
 
Turley conclude that the alternative internal migration variant projections are more 
appropriate to use. This results in a higher starting point than the principle or main 
2018 projection but that even when applying the 2014 household formation rates 
results in a lower dwelling per annum than previous projections as a result of natural 
change factors rather than supressed housing supply. These changes become more 
pronounced for the later plan period. Turley conclude that the following adjustment be 
made to the OAN  
 

 715 - 800 dwellings per annum for the plan period 2013-2032 

 715 dwellings per annum for the period 2016-36  
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
 
Sue Tiley 
Planning Policy and Implementation Manager 

Colin Haigh 
Head of Planning 

 

Reply to: address as below 
Date: 24 August 2020 

 

Page 83

mailto:louise@poservices.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Indicative programme 

27th August Taking stock session  

w/c 31/08 List of points to visit sent to Inspector, updated SA submitted if required 

1/09-14/09 Additional information requested by Inspector submitted  

End of September/ early October Inspector’s interim report received  

29/10/20 Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel considers updated housing land supply, 

additional sites and results of Inspector’s report 

03/11/20 Cabinet considers recommendations of Cabinet 

23/11/20 Full Council considers recommendation of Cabinet 

24/11/20 Council submits additional sites to examination 

27/11/20 Inspector issues MIQs  

Mid January 2021 Hearing Sessions  

 Implications of 2018 Household projections on OAN 

 Housing land supply assumptions and stepped target 

 Additional sites  

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Colin Haigh 
Executive Member: Cllr Stephen Boulton 
All wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL – 10 SEPTEMBER 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 
 
MHCLG WHITE PAPER – PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE 
 
1 Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The Government is consulting on fundamental reforms to the planning system.   

 
1.2 The Prime Minister claims that England’s potential is being constrained by our 

outdated and ineffective planning system.  It proposes to build a new simpler, 
clearer and quicker system that actively encourage sustainable, beautiful, safe 
and useful development, but also makes it harder for developers to dodge their 
obligations to improve infrastructure.   
 

1.3 The Secretary of State supports the need for a simpler, faster, more predictable 
system, that builds more homes, bridges the current generational divide of home 
ownership, creates a more competitive housing industry, ensures everyone pays 
a fair share of the costs of infrastructure and affordable housing, cuts red tape 
but not standards, with a higher regard on quality, design and local vernacular, 
and more emphasis on interactive and accessible map-based online systems. 
 

1.4 The White Paper is open for comments until Thursday 29 October. 
www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future 
 

1.5 The Government is also consulting on four associated measures until 1 October 
2020: changes to the standard methodology for calculating housing requirement; 
First Homes; temporarily lifting the small sites threshold for affordable housing; 
and extending the current permission-in-principle to major development. 
www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system 
 

1.6 This report sets out a proposed response to the White Paper consultation. 
 

2 Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Panel debates the content of the White Paper consultation and the 

proposed responses set out below and agrees to submit appropriate comments. 
 

3 Explanation 
 
Planning for the Future 
 

3.1 The White Paper identifies several problems with the existing planning system: it 
is too complex; planning decisions are discretionary rather than rules-based; it 
takes too long to adopt a Local Plan; assessments of housing need, viability and 
environmental impacts are too complex and opaque; it has lost public trust; it is 
based on 20th century technology; the process of negotiating contributions for 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9

http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future
http://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-the-current-planning-system


affordable housing and infrastructure is complex, protracted and unclear; there is 
not enough focus on design and little incentive for high quality; and it does not 
lead to enough homes being built. 
 

3.2 In response the White Paper seeks to: be more ambitious for the beautiful places 
we create; move democracy forward by harnessing digital technology and giving 
communities an earlier and more meaningful voice; improve the user experience; 
support home ownership; increase the supply of land for new homes where it is 
needed; help businesses to expand; support innovative developers; promote 
stewardship of our precious countryside; and create a virtuous circle of prosperity 
in villages, towns and cities. 
 

3.3 It is structured around 3 pillars and 24 proposals.  The proposals are set out in 
black and officer explanation and comments are set out in blue.  Officers have 
made comments in as open-minded manner as possible, as it is recognised that 
many of these proposals will probably be implemented in the near future.  Please 
note that the White Paper contains a significant amount of text that it is not easy 
to summarise in this report without missing out important points of nuance.  It is 
therefore recommended that councillors read the entire document if possible. 
 

3.4 The key line appears in Paragraph 5.14 which states that “We envisage the focus 
of local planning authorities shifting towards the development of clear Local 
Plans and high-quality design codes which set the parameters for development – 
rather than making discretionary decisions based on vague policies.” 
 

3.5 The White Paper states that subject to consultation the Government will seek to 
bring forward legislation and policy change to implement these reforms.  They 
accept that the detail of the proposals will need further development. 
 
Pillar One: Planning for Development 
 

3.6 Proposal 1: The role of land use plans should be simplified.  Local Plans should 
identify three types of land – growth areas suitable for substantial development, 
renewal areas suitable for development and protected areas that are protected. 
 

3.7 It proposes that growth areas suitable for substantial development would include 
new settlements, urban extensions and major redevelopment sites.  Sites given 
this designation would have outline approval for development.  Renewal areas 
would cover existing built-up areas where smaller scale development and gentle 
densification is appropriate.  Protected areas would include green belt, 
conservation areas, local wildlife sites, important green spaces and gardens.   
 

3.8 This is a fundamental change from the existing plan-making system, which 
currently allows the Council to create multiple allocations and designations for 
different sites.  Most fundament is that development in growth areas would have 
automatic outline permission in principle and would only need to go through a 
prior approval or reserve matters process to gain full permission. 
 

3.9 The Government proposes “the delegation of detailed planning decisions to 
planning officers where the principle of development has been established, as 
detailed matters for consideration should be principally a matter for professional 
planning judgment”.  This may mean that there is a lesser role for a traditional 
planning committees, as the principle of the development will not be for 
consideration. 
 

Page 88



3.10 The removal of considering the principle of development and, for example, 
whether there is a sufficient five year housing land supply, will free up officer time 
to consider the design of the scheme.  If an officer considers that a housing 
scheme does not comply with the relevant design code, the application can be 
refused without balancing this against the presence or not of sufficient housing 
land supply or employment land for an application for commercial space.  
 

3.11 Proposal 2: Development management policies established at national scale and 
an altered role for Local Plans. 
 

3.12 It proposes that Local Plans should only contain site/area specific development 
management policies in growth and renewal areas.  In all other cases the Council 
would default to the NPPF when determining applications.  The emphasis would 
instead be on design guides and design codes, ideally in a machine-readable 
format to allow digital services to screen proposals. 
 

3.13 Proposal 3: Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory ‘sustainable 
development’ test which replaces the existing tests of soundness. 
 

3.14 It proposes that the sustainability appraisal process be abolished and replaced 
with a simplified process for assessing the environmental impact of plans.  This 
could be a good thing as the SA process is expensive, complicated and opaque, 
but does ensure that development is considered in terms of its individual and 
cumulative impacts on the natural, built, social and economic environment. 
 

3.15 It proposes that the duty to cooperate test would be removed, although it 
recognises that some mechanism to consider strategic cross-boundary issues is 
required.  It mentions, for example, that mayors of combined authorities could 
oversee the strategic redistribution of development targets over their area. 
 

3.16 It proposes a slimmed down assessment of deliverability within the new 
sustainable development test.  Sites should not be included in a plan where there 
is no prospect of supporting infrastructure.  This could be a good thing as it is 
very difficult to fully evidence the deliverability of a plan that lasts for 15 years. 
 

3.17 Proposal 4: A standard methodology for establishing housing requirements, 
which would factor in affordability and land constraints. 
 

3.18 It proposes that Local Plans should identify sites to meet a range of development 
needs for a minimum period of 10 years.  The process is currently dominated by 
debates about housing numbers.  A standard methodology would be binding but 
would take account of the size of urban settlements, the relative affordability of 
places, the extent of land constraints in an area, the opportunities to make better 
use of brownfield land for housing, the need for non-residential development and 
a buffer to ensure enough land is available. 
 

3.19 The Government agenda is clear that councils and communities spend too long 
prevaricating about housing need and that not enough land has been released 
for development, leading to worsening affordability.  A standard methodology 
would delete the requirement for any housing needs evidence.  The Local Plan 
would be expected to find enough land for whatever target the methodology 
generated for the area.  The Government wants to shift the debate from housing 
numbers to development locations and development quality. 
 

Page 89



3.20 The Government is currently consulting on a new standard methodology that 
would require Welwyn Hatfield to plan for 667 dwellings per year.  In comparison 
the current standard methodology generates a target of 875 dwellings per year.  
The difference appears to be a consequence of the recent household projections.  
Whilst this might therefore seem desirable at present it leaves the housing target 
for the borough entirely in the hands of Government and ONS projections. 
 

3.21 Proposal 5: Areas identified as growth areas would automatically be granted 
outline planning permission for the principle of development. 
 

3.22 This means that that any outstanding design and technical details would be 
agreed through a faster consent route.  This proposal has merit where the 
Council has already accepted the principle of development and prepared a 
design code to guide quality.  This means communities will have to be involved at 
the Local Plan stage and in the preparation of design codes, potentially many 
years in advance of the site coming forward for development, as the opportunity 
for further comment at the planning application stage will no longer exist. 
 

3.23 It proposes that planning permission would still be required for renewal areas, 
with a general presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
 

3.24 It proposes that planning permission would still be required for protected areas, 
and judged against NPPF policies. 
 

3.25 This will mean a lesser role for traditional planning committees or those 
committees will scrutinise the detailed elements of a scheme even more deeply, 
the principle not being for consideration. 
 

3.26 Proposal 6: Decision-making should be faster and more certain, with firm 
deadlines and make greater use of digital technology. 
 

3.27 The Government proposes to work with technology companies to streamline and 
digitally-enable as much of the planning process as possible.  The deadlines of 8 
or 13 weeks should be firm deadlines rather than aspirations that can be easily 
extended.  The validation and submission of applications should be integrated.  
Applications should be shorter, standardised as much as possible, data-rich and 
machine-readable.  Better software should improve the user experience.  There 
should be a digital template for planning notices, with less reliance on lampposts, 
newspapers and libraries.  The detail should be left to planning officers where the 
principle of development has been established.   
 

3.28 The Government wants to have firm deadlines for applications and to remove 
extension of time.  Last year (July 2019 to July 2020) approximately 37% of 
applications had an extension of time.  To achieve this, it proposes:  
 

A "clear incentive" on councils to determine an application within the statutory 
time limits which could involve "the automatic refund of the planning fee for the 
application if they fail to determine it within the time limit".  
 

"Shorter and more standardised applications".  The document says the amount 
of "key information required as part of the application should be reduced 
considerably and made machine-readable".  It adds that a "national data 
standard for smaller applications should be created", while, for "major 
development, beyond relevant drawings and plans, there should only be one key 
standardised planning statement of no more than 50 pages to justify the 

Page 90



development proposals in relation to the local plan and National Planning Policy 
Framework". 
 

The "delegation of detailed planning decisions to planning officers where the 
principle of development has been established, as detailed matters for 
consideration should be principally a matter for professional planning judgment". 
 

The "greater digitalisation of the application process to make it easier for 
applicants, especially those proposing smaller developments, to have certainty 
when they apply and engage with local planning authorities".  In particular, it 
adds, "the validation of applications should be integrated with the submission of 
the application so that the right information is provided at the start of the 
process". 
 

A new, "more modular, software landscape" to "help automate routine processes, 
such as knowing whether new applications are within the rules". 
 

A "digital template for planning notices" will be created so that planning 
application information can be "more effectively communicated and understood 
by local communities and used by new digital services". 
 

"Greater standardisation of technical supporting information, for instance about 
local highway impacts, flood risk and heritage matters". 
 

"Clearer and more consistent" planning conditions, with "standard national 
conditions to cover common issues". 
 

3.29 The White Paper also outlines that fees will still be set nationally and pre-
application fees will be regulated.  
 

3.30 All of the above is welcomed, as the planning system still relies excessively on 
paper and pdf documents that must be printed or downloaded to read.  It should 
be recognised however that not everyone is digitally savvy and many residents 
still rely on planning notices on lampposts to become aware of local proposals.  
The Council has a good record of determining the majority of applications within 
statutory time limits, but it feels unrealistic to expect that large schemes with 
multiple complexities could be determined in a 13 week period. 
 

3.31 Proposal 7: Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised, based 
on the latest digital technology and supported by a new template. 
 

3.32 Local Plans should be built on data standards and digital principles.  There will 
be a model template for Local Plans.  Plans should be fully digitised and web-
based to allow instantaneous publication of updates.  This will enable a national 
digital register of planning policies.  This will also enable new digital engagement 
processes to be established.  This will start with a series of pilot projects. 
 

3.33 Proposal 8: LPAs and PINS will be required to meet a statutory timetable for key 
stages of the Local Plan process. 
 

3.34 It proposes that Local Plans should take 30 months (2.5 years) to produce.  
Stage 1 (6 months): The Council calls for suggestions for areas under the three 
growth/renewal/protection categories.  Stage 2 (6 months): The Council drafts its 
Local Plan and produces any necessary evidence.  Stage 3 (6 months): The 
Council simultaneously submits the plan for examination and publicises the plan 
for public comment.  Stage 4 (9 months): A planning inspector considers whether 

Page 91



the three categories are ‘sustainable’ and those who have commented have the 
right to be heard.  Stage 5 (6 weeks): The plan is finalised and comes into force.  
This timetable would be enforced via a statutory duty with the risk of Government 
intervention thereafter.  This Council would have 42 months from the point at 
which the legislation is brought into force as our current Local Plan has already 
been submitted for examination.  Plans should be renewed at least every 5 years 
and earlier where there has been a significant change in circumstances.   
 

3.35 Based on existing experience of the Local Plan process the time frames set out 
above are incredibly aspirational.  Stage 2 assumes that policies can be drafted 
at the same time as evidence is produced rather than as a result of obtaining that 
evidence.  Stage 4 makes no reference to considering the wording of localised 
policies, design guidance and design codes.  The process takes no account of 
the sparsity of experienced planning officers.  The process takes no account of 
the democratic process of getting plans agreed by councillors.  The process 
takes no account of the variety of parties – councillors, landowners, developers, 
agents, statutory bodies, utility companies, town/parish councils, businesses, 
community groups, residents, etc – that need to be engaged.  Although a 
standardised template and process with greatly assist, it feels wholly unrealistic 
to prepare a sound Local Plan in this timescale, unless evidence can be sparse, 
engagement can be limited and officer delegated powers can be expanded. 
 

3.36 Proposal 9: Neighbourhood Plans should be retained as an important means of 
community input. 
 

3.37 It proposes that their content should be more focused in line with Local Plans and 
make more use of digital tools and digital data.  The Government also wonders 
whether very small plans for types of development could be made at street level. 
 

3.38 Proposal 10: A stronger emphasis on build-out through planning. 
 

3.39 It proposes that masterplans, design guidance and design codes should include 
a variety of development types by different builders, to allow more phases to 
come forward together. 
 

3.40 There are no proposals to encourage or penalise developers who secure 
planning permission but do not build-out their sites.  The emphasis remains 
entirely on councils to prepare plans and grant planning permissions as quickly 
as possible.  There is a risk that this yields far more allocations and permissions 
than are actually required to achieve local housing requirements. 
 
Pillar Two: Planning for Beautiful and Sustainable Places 
 

3.41 Pillar Two wants to enable the creation of beautiful places that will stand the test 
of time, protect and enhance the precious environment and support efforts to 
combat climate change.  Planning should generate net gains for the quality of the 
natural and built environment.  This should be done through the National Design 
Guide, a National Model Design Code and through local design guidance and 
design codes which reflect local character and community preference.  Most of 
the proposals are taken from the Better Building, Better Beautiful Commission. 
 

3.42 Proposal 11: Expect design guidance and design codes to be prepared locally 
with community involvement, to make sure design expectations are more visual 

Page 92



and predictable and to ensure that codes are more binding on decisions about 
development. 
 

3.43 It proposes that councils should prepare design guidance and design codes 
which translate the basic characteristics of good places into what works locally. 
 

3.44 For information, design codes would set precise rules governing architecture 
styles, materials, façade, heights, density, etc and would go into much more 
detail than design guidance which normally include less precise objectives such 
as ‘to respect the character of the area’.  They would also have to be provably 
popular, popularly endorsed and based on genuine community involvement. 
 

3.45 The fundamental tenet of the White Paper appears to be that if local communities 
are involved in the design of developments then they will support the principle of 
development.  This disregards local experience that people often seek to resist 
the principle of development in their community regardless of what it might look 
like.  They are far more concerned about the loss of the land to buildings, its 
traffic generation, the capacity of local schools and healthcare services, etc. 
 

3.46 Proposal 12: Set up a body to support the delivery of popular local design codes 
and for councils to have a chief officer for design and place-making. 
 

3.47 It recognises that the vision requires a step-change in the design skills available 
to councils.  The Government will therefore explore options that enable councils 
to draw on the expertise of recognised experts.  Other proposals to streamline 
the planning system will allow some refocusing of professional planning skills. 
 

3.48 Proposal 13: Consider how Homes England’s strategic objectives can give 
greater emphasis to delivering beautiful places. 
 

3.49 It proposes that Homes England can lead by example, to champion design 
quality.  This should be supported, particularly as Homes England have recently 
acquired Panshanger site which has outline planning permission for 600 homes. 
 

3.50 Proposal 14: A fast-track for beauty through national policy, to incentivise high 
quality that reflects local character and preferences. 
 

3.51 It proposes that where proposals comply with pre-established principles of what 
good design looks like, then it should be possible to expedite development 
through the planning process, to incentivise attractive and popular development.    
This will be done through wording in the NPPF, a legislative requirement for 
masterplans and design codes for growth areas and by widening the nature of 
permitted development so popular and replicable forms of development can be 
easily and quality approved in renewal areas. 
 

3.52 Design can be remarkably subjective.  It remains to be seen whether provably 
locally popular design types and styles can be successful identified. 
 

3.53 Proposal 15: Amend the NPPF to ensure it targets those areas where a reformed 
planning system can most effectively play a role in mitigating and adapting to 
climate change and maximise environmental benefits. 
 

3.54 It proposes that the planning system plays a proactive role in environmental 
recovery and long-term sustainability.  This will be progressed through the 
Environment Bill and the NPPF.   

Page 93



 
3.55 The proposal is more ambition than action. 

 
3.56 Proposal 16: A quicker and simpler framework for assessing environmental 

impacts and enhancement opportunities. 
 

3.57 It recognises that consideration of environmental issues is vital but often creates 
long reports that inhibit transparency and cause delays.  It proposes that 
processes should use national and local data to speed up decision-making. 
 

3.58 The proposal is more ambition than action. 
 

3.59 Proposal 17: Conserving and enhancing our historic buildings and areas in the 
21st century. 
 

3.60 It proposes that Local Plans should clearly identify the location of international, 
national and local heritage assets and local features such as protected views.  It 
wants historic buildings to play a central role in the renewal of towns and villages.  
Planning should be sympathetic to changes that enable their continued use and 
to address climate change and energy efficiency. 
 

3.61 Proposal 18: Facilitate ambitious improvements in energy efficiency of buildings 
to deliver net zero by 2050. 
 

3.62 The Government has ambitions that new homes will produce 75-80% less CO2 
emissions than current levels by 2025 and net zero by 2050.  It is not clear 
whether this will be done through the planning system, building regulations or 
other mechanisms. 
 
Pillar Three – Planning for Infrastructure and Connected Places 
 

3.63 Pillar Three recognises that new development creates new demands for public 
services and infrastructure.  This should be achieved by securing contributions 
from developers and capturing land value uplift generated by planning decisions.  
The current system relies on opaque and uncertain planning obligations which 
are subject to negotiation based on viability appraisals and CIL which is inflexible 
in the face of changing market conditions.  The Government wants the process to 
be responsible to local needs, transparent, consistent, simplified and buoyant.  
 

3.64 Proposal 19: CIL should be reformed to be charged as a fixed proportion of the 
development value above a threshold, with a mandatory nationally-set rate/rates.  
The current system of planning obligations should be abolished. 
 

3.65 It proposes a nationally-set, flat-rate, single-rate or area-specific rates, value-
based charge, to be charged on the final value of a development at the point the 
planning permission is granted, to be levied at the point of occupation.  There 
would be a minimum threshold below which the levy would not be charged to 
prevent local viability development becoming unviable.  The alternative option is 
that the levy remains optional and set by each council. 
 

3.66 Councils would be allowed to borrow against Infrastructure Levy revenues to 
forward-fund infrastructure. 
 

Page 94



3.67 Proposal 20: Scope of Infrastructure Levy could be extended to capture changes 
of use through permitted development rights. 
 

3.68 This is welcomed.  The recently announced new permitted development rights 
are likely to increase the number of change of use proposals in employment 
areas and town centres. 
 

3.69 Proposal 21: Reformed Infrastructure Levy should deliver affordable housing 
provision. 
 

3.70 It proposes that the Infrastructure Levy could secure on-site affordable housing 
through in-kind delivery where the authority has a requirement, capability and 
wishes to do so.  An affordable housing provider who purchases the affordable 
dwellings at a discount from market rate and this would be offset from the final 
levy value.  It believes that risk can be mitigated through design policies to 
maintain existing levels of on-site affordable housing delivery and that councils 
could flip units back to market units if there is a market fall.  An alternative would 
be for councils to accept land within or adjacent to the site as part of the Levy. 
 

3.71 The White Paper states that this would create an incentive for the developer to 
build on-site affordable housing, but it does not provide any evidence to this 
effect.  Experience suggests that developers often prefer to make a financial 
payment for off-site affordable housing, thus making their scheme all market 
housing and therefore more exclusive.  It seems to assume that market housing 
is the default aspiration of developers, councils and purchasers.   
 

3.72 The Government has issued a separate consultation paper on amending the 
small sites threshold for affordable housing to up to 40-50 homes.  The 
Submitted Local Plan currently states that affordable housing should be sought 
on all sites of 10+ homes. 
 

3.73 In respect of this section, Housing colleagues have made the following points: 
 

3.74 Currently the over-arching feeling in Housing is that the “devil is in the detail” the 
Government is indicating assurances to keep the more positive aspects of 
Section 106 to deliver existing levels of affordable housing and provide mixed 
and sustainable communities, but there are concerns about a number of un-
intended consequences and that as proposals currently stand outcomes could go 
either way:  
 

3.75 Pillar Two: Planning for Beautiful and Sustainable Places: the proposals 
predominantly come from the Better Building, Better Beautiful Commission, and 
the concern here is that the focus on beauty and quality seems largely to be on 
outward appearance and does not extend to criteria such as space and 
accessibility standards. 
 

3.76 Pillar Three: proposal to replace Section 106 and CIL with a simple 
“Infrastructure Levy”: the housing sector recognises those mechanisms’ 
shortcomings, but they delivered 49% of the country’s affordable housing last 
year and captured £7 billion in 2018/19, £4.7 billion of which was for affordable 
housing.  Although this Levy would continue to be used for affordable housing 
and infrastructure, as at present; providers feel it is less clear, whether 
contributions towards affordable housing would be as substantially protected as 
they are through Section 106 and whether affordable housing developments 
would be liable to contribute to the levy (they are currently exempted from CIL). 

Page 95



However the levy being applied across a wider range of developments, 
especially ‘permitted development’ is welcomed. 
 

3.77 In respect of changes to Current Planning Process: 
 

3.78 The government’s preference is that First Homes would directly displace other 
“affordable home ownership products” and are mandating that 25% of developer 
contributions must go to First Homes.  Our findings earlier in 2020 were that First 
Homes are more than likely to be out-of-reach / unaffordable for many of the 
people in the borough it is designed for. 
 

3.79 Raising the affordable housing threshold from 10 to 50 for initially 18 months to 
support SMEs is a substantial change. 
 

3.80 Both measures are seen by the sector, as contributing potentially to significant 
losses of new affordable housing stock, particularly in rural areas and of shared 
ownership homes.  The government’s own estimates have determined a 
reduction in Section 106 affordable housing of between 10% and 20%. 
 

3.81 Continuing these changes under the new system are deemed likely to have a 
significant long-term impact – which reinforces  the sectors appeal for a much 
more substantial programme of direct investment in social housing. 
 

3.82 Proposal 22: More freedom could be given to councils over how they spend the 
Infrastructure Levy. 
 

3.83 It recognises that affordable housing and infrastructure requirements may vary 
depending on an authority’s circumstances.  It proposes flexibility for councils to 
decide how to spend their levy receipts: local infrastructure, parks, open spaces, 
street trees, community facilities, improving services or reducing council tax.  It 
proposes that up to 25% should continue to go to town/parish councils (which 
presumably continues to mean 15% default and 25% where there is an adopted 
neighbourhood plan). 
 
Delivering Change 
 

3.84 Proposal 23: Develop a comprehensive resources and skills strategy for the 
planning sector. 
 

3.85 It proposes to consider arrangements for transitioning and implementing these 
changes with minimal disruption, subject to consultation responses.  It wants the 
public sector to make best use of surplus land to support the renewal of towns 
and villages, to explore how the disposal of publicly-owned land can support 
SME and self-build sectors, to support innovation in the delivery of homes and 
development and make sure the planning system has the right people and the 
right skills by freeing-up planners to focus on creating great communities.  They 
will need sufficient leadership, a strong cadre of professional planners, good 
access to technical expertise and transformed digital technology but should also 
become more outward looking and proactively engaging with developers and 
communities.  It envisages the focus shifting towards clear Local Plans and high 
quality design codes which set the parameters for development, rather than 
making discretionary decisions based on vague policies.  It considers that all of 
the above proposals should substantially remove the risk of judicial review, as 
most challenges are about imprecise and unclearly worded law or policies, while 
these proposals create simple and clear processes that remove ambiguity. 

Page 96



 
3.86 It proposes that the cost of the new planning system should be principally funded 

by its landowner and developer beneficiaries, rather than the national or local 
taxpayer.  Planning fees will continue to be set on a national basis and at least 
cover the full cost of processing the type of application based on clear national 
benchmarking.  A small proportion of Infrastructure Levy income should be 
earmarked for councils to cover their planning costs, including the preparation of 
Local Plans, design codes and enforcement activities.   
 

3.87 Councils should be subject to a new performance framework that ensures 
continuous improvement and enables early intervention if problems emerge.   
 

3.88 The Government will continue to engage with the PropTech sector to unlock data 
that underpins the planning system and transform digital processes. 
 

3.89 Proposal 24: Seek to strengthen enforcement powers and sanctions. 
 

3.90 It proposes more emphasis on enforcement of planning standards and decisions, 
including the introduction of more powers to address intentional unauthorised 
development and encampments and higher fines.  It outlines that as local 
planning authorities are freed from many planning requirements through our 
reforms, they will be able to focus more on enforcement across the planning 
system. 
 

3.91 The proposal is more ambition than action. 
 

Changes to the Standard Methodology 
 

3.92 The standard methodology is used by the Government to calculate housing 
requirements for each authority area.  The aspiration is to deliver 300,000 homes 
per year and one million homes over this parliament.  The standard methodology 
gets the time and cost of commissioning housing need studies.  The current 
methodology uses 2014-based household projections adjusted to take account of 
the affordability of the area, capped at 40% to limit the increase each authority 
has to accommodate.  The new methodology proposes to introduce a new 
element to take account of the number of homes already in the area and an 
affordability adjustment that takes account of changes over time.   
 

3.93 The new standard methodology currently results in a requirement for 667 
dwellings per year, compared with the current requirement for 875 dwellings per 
year. 
 
First Homes 
 

3.94 First Homes are houses/flats to be built on developments and sold to local 
people with a discount of at least 30%.  This consultation proposes that 25% of 
all affordable homes securing through Section 106 contributions should be First 
Homes, preferably to be delivered on-site.  They should replace as a priority 
other forms of affordable home-ownership products.   
 

3.95 The Council’s observations in March 2020 were that First Homes may still be out-
of-reach for many people in the borough. 
 
Small sites planning policy 

Page 97



 
3.96 This consultation proposes that the threshold for sites to make affordable 

housing contributions be raised to 40-50 units (whereas it is currently 10 units).  It 
recognises that this would reduce affordable housing provision by somewhere 
between 7-20% but would be offset by allowing small sites to come forward 
quicker and minimise the pressure that SME builders are currently under. 
 

3.97 This would have the obvious impact of reducing the number of affordable 
dwellings that are likely to be provided in the borough.  If implemented the 
borough would only secure affordable housing from larger developments.  This 
would likely have a severe impact as the borough is currently delivering most of 
its new housing from smaller brownfield sites.  It may be less of an issue in the 
future when an increasing proportion of development will come from larger Local 
Plan sites. 
 
Extension of permission-in-principle 
 

3.98 Councils are currently allowed to grant sites on their brownfield register for less 
than 10 units for permission-in-principle, so that developers only need to resolve 
detailed reserve matters in order to start building.  This consultation proposes to 
extend permission-in-principle to cover major developments up to 150 dwellings 
that do not require an environmental statement, plus introduce a lower fee to 
incentivise their take-up. 
 

3.99 The Council has yet to grant permission-in-principle for any of its sites, so there 
is no experience to draw up in responding to this question.  It should be noted 
however that the responsibility for resolving matters that form part of a 
permission-in-principle must be shared between the Council and the landowner, 
whereas planning applications are overwhelmingly the responsibility of the 
landowner. 
 

4 Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The White Paper proposes changes to primary and secondary legislation. 
 

5 Financial Implications 
 

5.1 The White Paper proposes changes to the funding of the planning system, with 
planning application fees set nationally and other functions funded by income 
from the Infrastructure Levy.  The move to more permitted development and 
permission-in-principle means the Council would probably receive much lower 
income from planning applications.  The proposals suggest that a small 
proportion of income from the Infrastructure Levy could be used to fund the Local 
Plan and design code work. 
 

6 Risk Management Implications 
 

6.1 There are no risk implications associated with this report.   
 

7 Security and Terrorism Implications 
 

7.1 There are no security or terrorism implications associated with this report.  
Planning guidance already encourages councils and partners to consider the 
terrorism issues of development proposals. 

Page 98



 
8 Procurement Implications 

 
8.1 There are no procurement implications associated with this report. 

 
9 Climate Change Implications 

 
9.1 The White Paper sets out ambitions for the planning system to help address and 

mitigate climate change. 
 

10 Human Resources Implications 
 

10.1 The implementation of the White Paper may necessitate changes to the human 
resource structure of the Planning Service, as it proposes more emphasis on 
Local Plans and design codes and less emphasis on planning applications. 
 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implications 
 

11.1 There are no health or wellbeing implications associated with this report.  Some 
planning officers, councillors and members of the public may be concerned by 
changes proposed by the White Paper. 
 

12 Communications and Engagement Implications 
 

12.1 In time it will be necessary for the Government and the Council to communicate 
the changes to the planning system to landowners, developers, partners and the 
public. 
 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Business Plan 2018-2021 and 
particularly Priority 2 Our Environment, Priority 3 Our Housing and Priority 4 Our 
Economy. 
 

14 Equalities and Diversity 
 

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies. 
 

Name of author Colin Haigh 
Title Head of Planning 
Date August 2020 
 
Appendices: 
 
MHCLG White Paper: Planning for the Future 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Main author: Colin Haigh 
Executive Member: Cllr Stephen Boulton 
All wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL – 10 SEPTEMBER 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 
 
NEW PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 
 
1 Executive Summary 

 
1.1 The Government has recently announced a raft of new permitted development 

rights to help kick-start construction and speed-up development as part of the 
response to the coronavirus pandemic.   
 

1.2 These include new Permitted Development Rights (PDR) to allow upward 
expansions of existing homes and the demolition and rebuilding of vacant homes 
and offices and reforms to the use classes order which allow for some 
commercial uses to change without the grant of planning permission. 

 
1.3 The new PDRs recently announced by the government include: 

i. Class A in Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO, which permits self-contained 
flats to be constructed on top of certain existing and purpose-built blocks of 
flats; 

ii. Class AA in Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO, which permits the upward 
expansion of certain dwellinghouses;  

iii. Class AA in Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO, which permits the 
construction of up to two new storeys of flats on top of certain detached 
buildings in commercial or mixed use (including residential use);  

iv. Class AB in Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO, which permits the 
construction of new flats on top of certain terraced buildings, including semi-
detached buildings;  

v. Class AC in Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO, which permits the 
construction of new flats on top of certain terraced dwellinghouses, 
including semi-detached dwellinghouses;  

vi. Class AD in Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO, which permits the 
construction of new flats on top of certain detached dwellinghouses; and 

vii. Class ZA in Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO, which permits the 
demolition of a single detached building in existence on 12 March 2020 that 
was used for office, research and development or industrial processes, or a 
free-standing purpose-built block of flats, and its replacement by an 
individual detached block of flats or a single detached dwelling house within 
the footprint of the old building.  

1.4 Class A in Part 20 of Schedule 2 took effect from 1 August 2020, whilst the 
remaining changes will come into force on 31 August 2020. 

 
1.5 Additionally new legislation has been published which will dramatically change 

the well-established use class system in England.  These new provisions will 
come into force on 1 September 2020.  In summary however, a new Class E use 

Page 101

Agenda Item 10



class for commercial, business and service uses has been introduced, which 
subsumes A1 shops, A2 financial and professional services, A3 restaurants and 
cafes, B1 business/offices and some D1 (clinics, health centres, crèches, day 
nurseries and day centres) and D2 (gyms, indoor recreations not involving 
motorised vehicles or firearm) uses.   

 
1.6 This report explores the possible implications of these new rights and whether 

the Council should create Article 4 Directions to remove them. 
 

2 Recommendation(s) 
 
2.1 That Members debate the opportunities and threats of these new rights. 

 
2.2 That Members debate whether they would prefer to: 

 
(a) Observe the impact of these rights for a period of time and consider the 
merits of Article 4 Directions if they are prejudicial to the proper planning of the 
area and constitute a threat to the amenities of that area. 
 
or 
 
(b) Prepare Article 4 Directions to remove these rights.  This could be the full or 
partial removal of rights and for the whole or selected parts of the borough.  Any 
Directions would need to be subject to public consultation and a wait of one year 
to allow compensation claims to fall away. 
 

3 Explanation 
 

3.1 The Government has recently announced a raft of new permitted development 
rights to help kick-start the construction industry and speed up development as 
part of the response to the coronavirus pandemic. 
 
Class A in Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO, which permits self-contained flats 
to be constructed on top of certain existing and purpose-built blocks of flats; 
 

3.2 There is a new permitted development right which applies to purpose built 
detached blocks of flats and allows up to two storeys to be constructed to the 
building to provide self-contained flats together with limited associated works.  
This however will be in certain circumstances and be subject to a successful prior 
approval application in respect of certain matters.   
 

3.3 There are a number of criteria which must be satisfied if a development is to 
make use of the new PDR.  These rights include that the existing detached 
building must be a purpose built block of residential flats, built after 1 July 1948 
and before 5 March 2018.  The new storeys must comprise flats.  There are also 
height restrictions which limit the new PDR including the additional storeys 
cannot exceed 3 metres in height, or the height of any existing storey, whichever 
is the lesser; the overall height of the roof of the building (as extended) must not 
exceed 7 metres above the highest part of the existing roof; and the extended 
building cannot exceed 30 metres in height (not including plant).   The existing 
building must also be at least three storeys, measured from ground level. 
Therefore, the PDR will probably apply to buildings of between circa 12 metres to 
circa 26 metres.  
 

Page 102



3.4 This right does not apply to buildings which are in a mixed use.  If planning 
permission for residential use of the existing building was obtained through 
another permitted development right, then this new PDR is not available.  Also 
buildings within conservation areas or on listed buildings and buildings within 
3km of an aerodrome cannot be extended under this PDR.  
 

3.5 The Council has 8 weeks to decide on a prior approval application and eight prior 
approval matters will be applicable: transport and highways impacts of the 
development; air traffic and defence asset impacts of the development; 
contamination risks; flooding risks; the external appearance of the building; the 
provision of adequate natural light in all habitable rooms of the new 
dwellinghouses; impact on the amenity of the existing building and neighbouring 
premises including overlooking, privacy and the loss of light; and whether 
because of the siting of the building, the development will impact on a protected 
view 

 
3.6 Members should note that the protected vista referred to above, is identified in 

the Directions Relating to Protected Vistas dated 15 March 2012 by the 
Secretary of State.  This relates to views in London and therefore this is not 
applicable to Welwyn Hatfield.  This criteria, which is listed below in other matters 
applicable for prior approvals, is also relevant. 
 

3.7 Any prior approval granted would be subject to conditions which includes the 
construction management plan to be submitted prior to commencement of the 
development.  Additionally the new dwellings must be self-contained flats and 
remain in a C3 use, although ancillary uses are permitted.  The prior approval 
must also be completed within a period of 3 years starting with the date prior 
approval is granted.  As soon as reasonably practicable, the developer must 
advise the LPA that the development has been completed. 
 

3.8 The LPA can add more conditions, provided that they are reasonably related to 
the subject matter of the prior approval. 

Classes AA, AB, AC and AD in Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO, which 
permits; the construction of up to two new storeys of flats on top of certain 
detached buildings in commercial or mixed use (including residential use; the 
construction of new flats on top of certain terraced buildings, including semi-
detached buildings; the construction of new flats on top of certain terraced 
dwellinghouses, including semi-detached dwellinghouses; and the construction of 
new flats on top of certain detached dwellinghouses. 

3.9 Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the General permitted Development Order introduces 
four new rights, Classes AA, AB, AC and AD.  The rights allow flats to be 
constructed on to the topmost storey of certain buildings. 

3.10 Class AA allows the construction of up to two additional storeys of new 
dwellinghouses on top of a detached building that is used within any of A1, A2, 
A3, B1(a), a betting office, a pay day loan shop, or a launderette (or a mixed use 
of either 1) 2 or more of these uses, or 2) C3 and 1 or more of these uses). 

3.11 Class AB permits the construction of up to two additional storeys of new flats on 
top of terrace buildings (including semi-detached buildings) in commercial or 
mixed (including residential) use; two storeys may be added if the existing 
building is two or more storeys tall, or one additional storey where the building 
consists of one storey. 

Page 103



3.12 Class AC permits the construction of new flats on top of terrace dwellinghouses 
(including semi-detached houses); two storeys may be added if the existing 
building is two or more storeys tall, or one additional storey where the building 
consists of one storey.  It must be in use as a single dwellinghouse. 

3.13 Class AD permits the construction of up to two additional storeys of new flats on 
top of detached dwellinghouses that are in use as a single dwellinghouse within 
C3; two storeys may be added if the existing building is two or more storeys tall, 
or one additional storey where the building consists of one storey. 

3.14 The rights allow up to two storeys to be added but Classes AB, AC and AD only 
allow the addition of one further storey to singe storey buildings.  In each case, 
the right covers certain other operations including works within the curtilage 
comprising; engineering operations to strengthen wall and foundations and to 
install services, works to construct safe access and egress, works to construct 
storage, waste and ancillary facilities.  Classes AA and AB also allow plant to be 
replaced or additional plan installed on the roof to serve the new flats provided 
there is existing plant and the new plant does not exceed the height of the 
existing plant. 

3.15 The right does not apply to listed buildings, scheduled monuments and land 
within their curtilages, conservations areas and SSSIs and certain other areas.  
Additionally buildings which were not used for an eligible use or for a Class C3 
residential use on 5 March 2018 and buildings constructed before 1 July 1948 or 
after 5 March 2018. 

3.16 The Council will also have 8 weeks to decide on a prior approval application and 
things to consider will include, the transport and highways impacts of the 
development, air traffic and defence asset impacts; contamination; flooding; the 
external appearance of the building, including the design and architectural 
features of the principal elevation and any side elevation that fronts a highway 
the impact of any works under sub-paragraph (1)(c) or (d) of Class AA; the 
provision of adequate natural light in all habitable rooms of the new 
dwellinghouses; the impact on the amenity of neighbouring building and 
neighbouring premises including overlooking, privacy and the loss of light; 
whether, because of the siting of the building, the development will impact on a 
protected views. 

3.17 Only proposals under Classes AA and AB will include additional criteria to 
consider of; impact of noise from any commercial premises on the intended 
occupiers of the new dwellinghouses; impacts of the introduction of, or an 
increase in, a residential use of premises in the area on the carrying on of any 
trade, business or other use of land in the area; 

3.18 The additional storeys must be built onto the principal part of the building, the 
internal floor to ceiling height of additional storeys cannot exceed the existing 
height of any storeys in the principal part of the existing building, (but must not 
exceed 3 meters in height), the height of the highest part of the roof as extended 
(excluding plant) must not exceed the existing by more than 7m for Class AA or 
3.5m for existing one storey buildings and 7m for any other buildings, exceed by 
more than 3.5m the highest part of the roofs across the terrace (Class AB and 
AC).  Additionally they should not extend above 30m (Class AA) or 18m for the 
other Classes.  Additionally Classes AB, AC and AD will not apply either the 
existing building has been enlarged by the addition of one or more storeys 
already.  Further, for Class AC and AD, the materials used in t exterior works 

Page 104



must be of similar appearance to the existing, the roof pitch must remain the 
same and the development must not include a window in any wall or roof slope in 
a side elevation. 
 

3.19 Before beginning the development, a report on construction management, 
covering hours of operation and how adverse impacts of noise, dust, vibration 
and traffic will be mitigated.  Additionally the work must be constructed within 
three years.   As soon as reasonably practicable, the developer must advise the 
LPA that the development has been completed. 
 

3.20 The LPA can add more conditions, provided that they are reasonably related to 
the subject matter of the prior approval. 

Class ZA in Part 20 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO, which permits the demolition of 
a single detached building in existence on 12 March 2020 that was used for 
office, research and development or industrial processes, or a free-standing 
purpose-built block of flats, and its replacement by an individual detached block 
of flats or a single detached dwelling house within the footprint of the old building 

3.21 There is a new right to demolish vacant buildings and replace them with well-
designed new residential units.   
 

3.22 It applies to vacant and redundant free-standing buildings that are classed as 
offices, premises for R&D or light industry and purpose-built residential blocks.  
Buildings must have been entirely vacant for at least six months and built before 
January 1990.  The new building cannot be larger than the footprint of the 
existing building and cannot exceed 1,000 sqm.  The new building can be up to 
seven metres higher than the existing building to accommodate up to two extra 
residential storeys, with an overall maximum of 18 metres [about six storeys].  
Purpose-built residential blocks of three or more storeys can also be extended 
upwards by up to two additional storeys, to an overall maximum of 30 metres.   
 

3.23 The Council has eight weeks to decide on prior approval applications and may 
consider: transport and highway impacts, contamination, flooding, impact of 
noise on future residents, adequacy of natural light, impact of the introduction of 
residential use into an area, impact on neighbouring premises including 
overlooking, privacy and light, the design of the new building, the impact on 
business and new residents of the development’s introduction of, or increase in, 
residential use on the area in which the development it to take place, the impact 
of the development on heritage and archaeology, the method of demolition of the 
old building, landscaping, including maintenance of shrubs and trees; and any air 
traffic and defence asset impacts, and impact that, because of the siting of the 
new building, would impact on a protected vista. 
 

3.24 If prior approval is granted the development will be subject to the condition that 
that before beginning the development, the developer must provide the local 
planning authority with a report for the management of the construction of the 
development, which is acceptable to the authority and sets out the method of 
demolition, the proposed development hours of operation and how any adverse 
impact of noise, dust and vibration and traffic on occupiers of the new building 
and adjoining owners or occupiers will be mitigated, the proposed use of 
materials, and the plans for the disposal and recycling of waste generated by the 
development and that in carrying out the development the developer must 
comply with the report. 
 

Page 105



3.25 The scheme must also be completed within three years of the grant of prior 
approval and the applicant should inform the Council when the development 
commences.  The right does not apply to listed buildings, Scheduled monuments 
or in conservation areas.  Developments must comply with building regulations 
including in respect of fire safety. 
 

3.26 This right has the potential to affect employment areas where there are a 
predominance of offices and R&D and light industrial premises, many of which 
are likely to have been built before 1990.  Very few of these are listed buildings 
or in conservation areas.  Six months is a very short period of time for a building 
to be vacant and could easily be facilitated by property owners keen to secure 
residential redevelopment.  Planning officers will have some discretion to 
consider the issues listed above but are likely to be under pressure not to be too 
draconian for fear of appeal and costs.  The Council is already responding to the 
recent loss of office space by creating an Article 4 Direction to remove the 
permitted development right for conversion to residential.    
 

Potential Impacts of the PDRs  
 
3.27 The upwards extensions of buildings through the new PDRs being introduced 

has the benefit of additional housing in the Borough, contributing to the Council’s 
five year housing land supply and potentially reducing some pressure from 
release of land to the green belt for construction.  These classes, in particular 
Class ZA, have the potential to result in the redevelopment and improvement of 
many purpose-built residential blocks around the borough.   

3.28 However, these rights have the potential to change not only the skyline but the 
potential skyline.  The baseline for determining the impact of a new building on a 
heritage asset or conservation area will change if the skyline in the vicinity could 
increase by two storeys without planning permission.  This would need to be 
taken into account in assessments of heritage and visual impact.  It might also 
affect landscape and visual impact assessments for the same reason.  The 
Council has recently carried out a heritage assessment to ensure that taller 
buildings within Hatfield do not harm the setting of Grade I Hatfield House and 
Gardens, with a conclusion that schemes of six or more storeys could be highly 
visible from key vantage points.  However, under PDRs, there is no requirement 
to assess the impact of the development to these heritage assets.  Class ZA, 
refers to prior approval for the design of the building, the external appearance of 
the building and the landscaping of the building, however it does not require an 
assessment to the heritage assets that could be impacted by the development. 
 

3.29 Additionally, at present it is unlikely that the PDRs would be liable for Section 106 
contributions.  Planning Practice Guidance says: “By its nature permitted 
development should already be generally acceptable in planning terms and 
therefore planning obligations would ordinarily not be necessary.  Any planning 
obligations entered into should be limited only to matters requiring prior approval 
and should not, for instance, seek contributions for affordable housing”. 

3.30 The only way of seeking contributions might be if it were raised by a consultee, 
because prior approval applications will need to take into account any 
representations made to them as a result of any consultation.  However, this 
would be likely to matters requiring prior approval only and in this instance, is 
likely to relate only to Transport contributions.  However, any development would 
be liable for the Community Infrastructure Levy once the levy is adopted.   

 

Page 106



3.31 Additionally, planning applications proposing residential units over 10 dwellings 
or more require a proportion of the new houses to be built for affordable housing.   
There is no requirement that the PDRs provide any affordable housing and the 
Council would be unable to require that this is provided.  

3.32 These PDRs will also have the potential to lock in more unacceptable standards 
of development as the regulations do not make a requirement that Councils form 
a judgement on whether the amount of internal space provided is adequate and 
meets national space standards and can result in very poor internal amenity 
space standards.  Additionally there are no requirements for the provision of 
external private amenity space and there may be a lack of access to private 
amenity space / outdoor space.  Furthermore there can be a poor mix of units 
leading to poor residential experiences.  However, prior approval will be needed 
in respect of adequate natural light in all habitable rooms of the proposed new 
flats, which has been introduced to try and address concerns that some homes 
previously created under existing PDR have been found to be poorly designed 
and have lacked access to natural light. 

3.33 These PDRs are also likely to be used to create a fallback position, both for sites 
that can benefit directly and to a lesser extent, for development sites nearby that 
might indirectly benefit from successful demonstrating that a neighbouring 
building extending by two storeys via the prior approval is realistic in the short 
term future. 

Class AA in Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO, which permits the upward 
expansion of certain dwellinghouses 
 

3.34 In summary the right allows up to two additional storeys on houses of two or 
more existing storeys or one additional storey on houses of one storey.  
Basements and roof/loft spaces, even if already converted, are not considered to 
be storeys.  The maximum height limit is 18 metres.  Terraced homes cannot be 
more than 3.5 metres higher than the next tallest house in the terrace.  Windows 
cannot be installed in side elevations in order to prevent overlooking.  Existing 
accommodation in the roof space, including a loft conversion, is not deemed a 
storey for the purpose of this right.  The legislation, applying equally to detached, 
semi-detached and terraced house, stipulates that the additional storeys are to 
be of a similar appearance in terms of exterior materials and that the 
development must not feature a window in any wall of roof slope forming a side 
elevation.  Further the roof pitch of the main part of the dwellinghouse post 
construction must be equal to the roof pitch of the existing dwellinghouse. 

3.35 The new PDR is does not apply to dwellings created via changes of use.  The 
prohibition of development also extends to a Site of Special Scientific Interest, a 
listed building or land within its curtilage, a scheduled monument or land within its 
curtilage, a safety hazard area, a military explosives storage area, or land within 
3 kilometres of the perimeter of an aerodrome.  It also does not apply to buildings 
constructed before July 1948 and after March 2018.  The Council has 8 weeks to 
decide on prior approval applications and may consider: impact on amenity of 
neighbouring premises including overlooking, privacy and overshadowing; the 
external appearance of the building, including the design and external 
appearance, of the principal elevation and any side elevations; air traffic and 
defence asset impacts of the development; and whether, as a result of the siting 
of the development, it impacts on a protected view. 

Page 107



3.36 Before beginning the development, the developer must provide the Council with 
a report for the management of the construction of the development, which sets 
out the proposed development hours of operation and how any adverse impact of 
noise, dust, vibration and traffic on adjoining owners or occupiers will be 
mitigated.  The development must also be completed within three years. As soon 
as reasonably practicable, the developer must advise the LPA that the 
development has been completed. 

3.37 The benefit of this right will enable further space within dwellings for families 
without having to move house.  However, this right has the potential to result in a 
hotchpotch of upwards extensions along streets, within neighbourhoods and 
across whole villages and towns.  The only protected places would be those 
designated as conservations areas, which includes Welwyn historic core, 
Welwyn Garden City West, Peartree, Beehive, Old Hatfield, Essendon and 
Northaw.  Additionally those properties within the Estate Management Scheme of 
Welwyn Garden City will also require an application under Estate Management 
consent and an assessment would be able to be made on the impact to the 
values and amenities of the property and the street scene. 

New Use Class 
 

3.38 There is a new Use Class E for commercial, business and service uses which 
subsumes existing Class A1 shops, Class A2 financial and professional services, 
Class A3 restaurants and cafes and Class B1 business/office.  It exempts public 
houses, wine bars, drinking establishments, hot food takeaways, cinemas, bingo 
halls and others which become sui generis.  The Government states that the 
current use class order was introduced in 1987 but requires a complete overhaul 
to better reflect the diversity of high street activities and provide flexibility for 
businesses to adapt to changing demands.  There is a new Use Class F1 for 
learning and non-residential institutions such as libraries, museums, public halls, 
public worship and law courts.  There is a new Use Class F2 for local community 
uses such as community halls, meeting spaces, places for outdoor sport and 
recreation, indoor/outdoor swimming pools and small shops of less than 280 sqm 
selling essential goods where there is no other such facility within 1,000 metres 
radius of the shop’s location.  There are no exemptions for listed buildings or in 
conservation areas.  
 

3.39 This right creates a much more laissez faire approach to changes of use of units 
within town centres, neighbourhood centres and village centres.  Shop owners 
are free to respond to market demand and shopping trends.  It will overrule 
policies in the Submitted Local Plan which seek to retain 70% A1 shops in town 
centre primary frontages to ensure they continue to have a focus for shopping 
alongside other desirable activities.  At present losses below 70% are only 
acceptable where there is marketing to demonstrate that there is no demand. 
 

3.40 At present it is unclear how town centres might change as a result of this right.  
The opportunity is that shops will quickly be able to change use and find new 
tenants rather than remain vacant.  The risk is that town centres may end up with 
too few shops selling things and too many units providing other services.  A 
criticism of some market towns in Hertfordshire is that there are great places to 
get a meal and a haircut but not much else. 

 
3.41 The provisions allow for a mix of uses within buildings and premises and this 

could include flexible use premises to be a retail unit in the day and then a 
restaurant in the evening. 

Page 108



 

3.42 It could also mean that employment areas could see other uses allowed in Class 
E being such as shops.  For example, the current Class B1 Uses will be able to 
change to what is currently a retail use such as supermarkets, creating out of 
town shopping areas.  Policies in the District Plan aim to ensure that new retail 
development must be located on accordance with the sequential approach on 
retailing and town centre uses.  The preferred location for retail development is 
within the district’s town centres.  Policy outlines that retail development on sites 
outside of the two town centres will be considered where there is a clear need, 
where no sites are available in the primary areas and where it would not harm 
the vitality and viability of the primary retail cores.   The introduction of Class E is 
contrary to these planning policies which are designed to protect town centre 
economies.  
 

3.43 An existing condition or legal agreement which limit changes of use may still 
apply, but that will depend on their wording.   

3.44 It is not possible to restrict changes within a Use Class, using an Article 4 
direction.  This is because changes between different uses within the new class 
E will not be classified as development of any kind – permitted or otherwise – 
and thus will be unaffected by an Article 4 direction.  So existing developments in 
lawful use within one of the E uses can shift within E.   

3.45 There is the possibility of conditions, or legal agreements, may be able to be 
used on new developments to restrict changes of use to other uses, however the 
government’s intention is that a change between Class E uses, or other uses is 
lawful.  Therefore there would need to be clear and compelling reasons to restrict 
the use permitted which would need to meet the 6 tests for conditions, namely; 
necessary, relevant to planning, relevant to the development to be permitted, 
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects.  However, it may be 
that an applicant would appeal such a condition which would then be a decision 
for an Inspector, but any such decision would be likely to be a material planning 
consideration for any future condition to be placed to restrict a change of use.  
Additionally the government may amend the National Planning Policy Framework 
or the Planning Practice Guidance to dissuade from that course of action. 
 
Temporary Uses 
 

3.46 There is a new permitted development right for local authorities to hold markets 
and move erectable structures for an unlimited number of days until 23 March 
2021 and for landowners to temporarily use land for any purpose for 28 days plus 
28 additional days (reduced to 14 days plus 14 additional days for markets and 
car and motorcycle racing) until 31 December 2020. 
 
Business and Planning Act 
 

i) Extensions to planning permissions 
 

3.47 The Business and Planning Act contains temporary provisions to extend the life 
of a planning permission.  Any planning permissions that expire on or after the 19 
August 2020 until December 30 2020 will be automatically extended to expire on 
1 May 2021.  No notification will be issued by the LPA unless a developer asks 
for this, in which case, we will provide a written confirmation as quickly as 
possible.  Developers can also make an application for a certificate of lawfulness 

Page 109



if they so wish if they require further substantive evidence that the permission 
has been extended. 
 

3.48 Where a planning permission has been expired between 23 March 2020 and 19 
August 2020, an application for an Additional Environmental Approval (AEA) will 
be required before the permission may benefit from any sort of extension under 
the new Regulations.  Such an application is made in writing electronically and 
the Local Planning Authority has 28 days in which to respond, unless an 
Extension of Time is agreed, otherwise the application is deemed to have been 
consented and the extension of time given.  Sufficient information must be 
included within the application to identify the relevant planning permission and to 
determine whether the AEA should be granted.  The key test for the AEA is what 
would be required of the development proposal if it were being considered in 
detail at this point in time and if the existing Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA) or Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) is now out of date, or if an EIA 
or HRA is not required, the AEA should be refused. 
 

3.49 Where the original permission was not subject to either an EIA or HIA, the 
application should include a statement and a brief explanation as to why the 
development still does not require an EIA or HRA. 
 

ii) Modification of Conditions Relating to Working Hours 
 

3.50 From 28 July 2020 under the Business and Planning Act an applicant can now 
seek to vary a condition relating to the working hours of the construction of the 
development, which if approved would temporarily amend the planning 
restrictions on construction hours until April 2021 (unless earlier date or another 
date is decided).  Such an application is made in writing electronically and the 
Local Planning Authority has 14 days (excluding bank holidays) in which to 
respond otherwise it is deemed to have been consented and construction can 
take place in accordance with these new hours.   
 
Article 4 Directions 
 

3.51 The planning system allows the Council to prepare an Article 4 Direction where it 
considers that permitted development rights are prejudicial to the proper planning 
of the area and constitute a threat to the amenities of that area.  This means that 
property owners once again have to submit a full planning application. 
 

3.52 Directions can either be created proactively where the Council believes that the 
rights will harm the area or reactively where the Council has evidence that the 
rights have harmed the area.   
 

3.53 Directions can be created immediately or after a one-year wait, which allows for 
any compensation claims to fall away. 
 

3.54 The Secretary of State has the power to veto Article 4 Directions prior to their 
confirmation. 
 

3.55 Members should note however that an Article 4 direction is unable to be 
administered to the Use Class E as they are now all within the same use class 
rather than it being a permitted development right. 
 

 
 

Page 110



4 Legal Implications 
 

4.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report.  The new permitted 
development rights are set out in amendments to the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015. 
 

5 Financial Implications 
 

5.1 The Council does not normally receive a fee for prior approvals, but will still incur 
costs in administering the applications and considering the allowable issues.  In 
the case of extending upwards and demolition/rebuilt however the Government 
has proposed a prior approval fee of £344 per new dwelling up to 50 dwellings 
and a fixed fee of £16,525 plus £100 for each dwelling in excess of 50 dwellings. 
 

5.2 The Council cannot seek affordable housing or Section 106 contributions from 
prior approval applications.  This is particularly frustrating for new housing that 
would normally provide 25/30/35% affordable housing on schemes of 10+ units 
and contribute towards education, healthcare and other community services. 
 

6 Risk Management Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct risk management implications associated with this report.  In 
all cases new developments must achieve building regulations, including fire 
safety.  There is a risk that the Council as the local planning authority will be 
criticised for allowing permitted development if people are unaware that such 
rights now exist.  The Council does publish all prior approval applications as part 
of the weekly list so that ward councillors, town/parish councils and residents are 
aware. 
 

7 Security and Terrorism Implications 
 

7.1 There are no security or terrorism implications associated with this report.  In all 
cases new developments must achieve building regulations, including fire safety. 
 

8 Procurement Implications 
 

8.1 There are no procurement implications associated with this report. 
 

9 Climate Change Implications 
 

9.1 Prior approval applications cannot be considered against climate change policies 
in the Local Plan, but new development must achieve sustainability standards 
within building regulations. 
 

10 Human Resources Implications 
 

10.1 There are no immediate human resources implications associated with this 
report.  As noted above the Council does not receive a fee for prior approvals, 
but will still incur costs in administering the applications and considering the 
allowable issues. 
 
 
 

 

Page 111



11 Health and Wellbeing Implications 
 

11.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications associated with this report.  In all 
cases new developments must achieve building regulations, including fire safety. 
 

12 Communications and Engagement Implications 
 

12.1 It will probably be in the Council’s interest to communicate that these permitted 
development rights means that we cannot control development that would once 
have been subject to a planning application, consulted upon, considered by 
officers and perhaps even determined by councillors at planning committees. 
 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Business Plan 2018-2021 and 
particularly Priority 3 Our Housing to plan for current and future needs, provide 
more affordable homes and improve housing quality and Priority 4 Our Economy 
to promote investment and regeneration, revitalise our neighbourhood and town 
centres and support sustainable economic growth. 
 

14 Equalities and Diversity 
 

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies. 
 

Name of author Colin Haigh 
Title Head of Planning 
Date August 2020 
 

Page 112



 

P
age 113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Part I 
Main author: Sian Chambers 
Executive Member: Cllr T Mitchinson 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL – 10 SEPTEMBER 2020  
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES) 

REVIEW OF THE HATFIELD COMMUNITY SPORT FUND 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 In February 2016 Development Management Committee agreed to a variation to 
the Section 106 agreement attached to planning permission S6/2003/0150/FP 
dated 13 January 2006. 

1.2 The previous agreement was for the University of Hertfordshire to replace sports 
pitches and facilities at Angerland Common, on the exercise of the planning 
permission.  After lengthy negotiations between all key stakeholders, this 
obligation was replaced with a new obligation requiring the University to 
contribute the sum of £1.4 million, on completion of the deed of variation, into a 
designated bank account administered by Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council on 
behalf of a Hatfield Community Sports Fund (the Fund). 

1.3 On 5 April 2016 Cabinet agreed how the Fund should be overseen and 
administered - consequently the Hatfield Community Sports Fund Board 
(HCSFB) was established through the Local Strategic Partnership (Welwyn 
Hatfield Alliance).  

1.4 Further to consultation with both statutory and non-statutory partners, it was 
agreed that a proportion of the Fund be ring-fenced specifically for football and 
for rugby, with the remaining funds being made available, via a grants system 
administered by the HCSFB, to the wider sporting community of Hatfield. 

1.5 Since April 2016 there has not been any allocation from the Fund for rugby or 
football; a limited amount of funds has been allocated from the general pot to 
Hatfield bowls, Hatfield boxing, football, wheelchair rugby, disability sport and to 
Hatfield Town Council.  

1.6 The Fund has now been operational for three years and to date only £116,487 
has been spent from the £1.4million.  All of the expenditure has been from the 
wider community sport pot, no expenditure has been made from the ring-fenced 
football or rugby funds. 

1.7 At their meeting on the 4 September 2019, the Fund’s Board requested that 
consideration be given to a review of criteria associated to the Fund. Cabinet 
agreed to freeze the Fund in September 2019 whilst that review took place. 

1.8 The review has now been concluded and associated recommendations and 
alterations are being proposed.  

 

 

Page 115

Agenda Item 11



 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 To recommend that Cabinet agrees to the new criteria as proposed by the 
Hatfield Community Sport Fund Board (set out in Paragraphs 3.9 and 3.10 of this 
report and in Appendix three). 

2.2 To recommend that Cabinet agrees the revised submissions process for 
applications to the Hatfield Community Sport Fund Board as set out in paragraph 
3.9.4 of this report and allows applications to be submitted from January 2021. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 Background information around the Angerland Common site and the original 
Section 106 agreement is set out in Appendix Two. 

3.2 Currently the allocation of the funds is split into a major grants fund, ring fenced 
for football (£800,000), and rugby (£200,000) and a general grants fund for 
community sport (originally £400,000). Neither the football nor the rugby funds 
have had any applications for funds prior to the review.  

3.3 £116,487 has been spent to date from the general grants fund (community 
sport), which has been given to the following organisations:- 
 
Hatfield Bowls, indoor facility improvements - £42,542 
Hatfield Town Council, Hatfield Comet 70th Sports Week - £25,841 
Hatfield Wheelchair Rugby Club, purchase of equipment and coaching - £22,000 
Hatfield SPACE for SPORT, delivery of specialised disability sessions - £13,537 
Hatfield Boxing, the BIG Hit project - £10, 640 
Hatfield Comets Football, purchase of a goal - £1,500 
 

3.4 The current Hatfield Community Sport Fund Board has six member 
organisations/groups; the organisations/groups represented on the Board are: 

Herts Sports Partnership 

Oaklands College (elected via the Alliance Board) 

WelHat Sports 

Hatfield Town Council (Member representative) 

Herts County Council (Member representative) 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council (Member representative) 

3.5 The University of Hertfordshire was invited to be involved in the review process, 
as the organisation with the original Section 106 obligation.  

3.6 The Rugby Football Union and the Herts FA were both invited to provide 
comment during the initial stages of the review.  

3.7 The review took a three stage process; firstly there was a survey sent to all 
Board members. This was then followed by the opportunity for a 121 meeting 
with officers. The final stage was a response to the proposed changes.  

Page 116



 

3.8 All six Board members plus the university representative provided feedback and 
engaged with the process. This included providing feedback on the final 
proposed changes to the criteria and application process. 

3.9 Following the review, the Board members feedback  propose the following 
changes to the general grant application process:- 

3.9.1 All applicants for funding must demonstrate how their application provides 
sustainability to sport/ a sport in Hatfield. 

3.9.2 Increase the minimum amount a funding request can be for from £5,000 to 
£10,000. (Recommendation is made on the basis that some board members 
felt there are other alternative options available to local sports clubs and 
organisations to enable them to get funds below £10,000). 

3.9.3 Reduce the maximum applied for the small grant to £49,999 (from £150,000). 
(Recommendation is made on the basis that some board members felt that 
this maximum would provide significant funding to local clubs and 
organisations whilst not spending a nearly half of the available funds on a 
single sport, club or organisation).  

3.9.4 Change the application process to three submission periods a year; each 
period will be followed by a Board meeting. Rather than the current process 
where applications are now being reviewed as and when they are 
submitted/finalised. The proposed new timings for applications will be as 
follows:- 

 Applications open in September and close in November with a Board 
meeting in December. 

 Applications open in January and close March with a Board meeting in 
April. 

 Application open in May and close in July with a Board meeting in 
August. 

3.9.5 Make it mandatory for applicants for funding to provide representation at a 
board meeting, to enable board members to ask questions and for the 
applicants to provide additional information as required to the board. This 
should increase the speed at which decisions are made.  

3.9.6 Remove pilot projects and events from activities that will be funded. 
(Recommendation is made on the basis that some board members felt that 
funding such projects and activities doesn’t necessarily provide sustainable 
and long term investment into sport. In addition it was felt that there are other 
avenues of funding currently available that could assist with such projects 
and activities). 

3.9.7 Amend the criteria to make it more focused on capital projects and 
infrastructure into the sport.  

3.9.8 All applications must clearly demonstrate why this project cannot be funded 
elsewhere. 

3.9.9 All the applications must be discussed with one of the officers prior to 
submission. 

Page 117



 

3.10 There were also three proposed changes made to the major grants pot:- 

3.10.1 Change the title a make it clearer this application process relates solely to 
ring-fenced funds associated to football and rugby, as such the fund will now 
be known as the Sport Specific Major Capital Grant.  

3.10.2 Provide ability for any applicant to come to the Board prior to submission to 
discuss the application for advice/guidance on what would be supported. 

3.10.3 Make it clear that any submission will require representation from the 
National Governing Body to support the project.  

3.11 With regards to the split of the funds; the majority of the Board supported the 
original split of funds (£800,000 – football / £200,000 – rugby / £400,000 – 
community), with one Board member not in support of this approach especially 
with regards to the wider community pot of funding.  

3.12 The majority of the Board were in support of the fund being re-opened to 
applications as soon as possible. There was one objection to this, the Board 
member felt that the funds should stay frozen until ‘until HTC [Hatfield Town 
Council] has a scheme in place to use it.  

3.13 Three Board members highlighted the need for greater dialogue and 
communication between the Hatfield Community Sport Fund and the Welwyn 
Hatfield Community Fund (managed by GLL). This would enable both funds to 
maximise their opportunity to provide support to community sports groups where 
most needed and reduce the possibility of double funding.  Regular meetings will 
take place between Head of Policy and Culture as representative of the Welwyn 
Hatfield Community Fund and Community Partnership Manager to ensure that 
communications are maintained between the two funds. 

3.14 It was also noted by two Board members that in the event that the borough 
council should decide to remove or stop the Welwyn Hatfield Small Grants 
scheme, then the Board should reconsider reducing minimum application back 
down to £5,000.  

Implications 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 The variation to the Section 106 agreement (attached to planning permission 
S6/2003/0150/FP dated 13 January 2006), was authorised by Development 
Management Committee and complied with the legal tests for planning 
obligations set out under Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure 
Regulations 2010. Should there be any proposed changes to either the funding 
area, funding split or the management of the fund these would have to be 
discussed via Development Management Committee and potentially discussed 
with the original applicant.  

4.2 There are no legal implications arising from the proposed changes to the criteria 
or application process.  

 

 

Page 118



 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 Use of this Section 106 money is expressly set out within the terms of the deed 
of variation agreed by the Development Management Committee on 4th February 
2016 and it cannot be used for any other purpose.  

5.2 The review will be carried out using internal resources and from existing budgets. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 Reputational Risk 

6.2 There were concerns raised by board members with regards to how the fund 
should be used as such the recommendations do not have unilateral support. As 
such agreeing to the criteria and application changes does hold some 
reputational risk.  Likelihood Medium    Impact Low 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are no security and terrorism implications associated to this report. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no procurement implications associated to this report. 
 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no climate change implications associated to this report. 

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 There are no Human Resources implications arising from this report. 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 Should the fund re-open this will provide the opportunity for local Hatfield sport 
groups and clubs to apply for funding enabling them to improve and enhance 
sport and physical activity in and around Hatfield, which will have a positive 
impact on the health and wellbeing of local residents. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 Once formally agreed there will be extensive marketing and publicity that the 
fund is now back open and that there is a new application criteria and process to 
follow. 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the council’s Corporate Priority  
Our Community and specifically to the achievement of ‘supporting local sport and 
leisure’ 

14 Equality and Diversity 

An Equality Impact Assessment has not been completed because this report 
does not propose changes to existing service-related policies or the development 
of new service-related policies. 

Page 119



 

 
 
Name of author Matthew Rayner 
Title Community Partnerships Manager 
Date 3 August 2020 
 
 
 
Background papers to be listed (if applicable)   

Appendices  

Appendix One – Geographical Map of where funding can be spent 

Appendix Two – Background on Angerland Common 

Appendix Three – Tabled amendments to both criteria documents  

 

  

Page 120



 

Appendix One 

Area for Funding  
 
Applications will be accepted by those organisations within the red line.  
  

Page 121



 

Appendix Two 

Background 

Site Description  

Angerland Common is an area of land of approximately 14ha, located on the south side 
of the A1001 South Way. The Council’s Lawn Cemetery lies to the east, while the site 
borders the A1 (M) to the west. The site is largely flat and bounded by trees and 
hedgerow, with vehicular access onto South Way. The northern part of the site is 
enclosed by fencing, is hard-surfaced, and is laid out as the ‘park and ride’ for the 
University of Hertfordshire, whilst the southern part of the site is open grassland.  

Background 

From the 1970s until 2003 the whole of the Angerland site was used for the provision of 
sports pitches, together with a small changing facility and car park. The facilities were 
used by Hatfield Polytechnic and subsequently the University as well as by local clubs 
booking through this Council. 

In 2003 the University submitted a planning application (S6/2003/0150/FP) for the 
construction of a park and ride on the northern part of the site as part of plans to 
alleviate parking congestion on the University College Lane Campus and in surrounding 
residential areas of southern Hatfield. This was to be accompanied, subject to public 
consultation, by the introduction of controlled parking zones in southern Hatfield, the 
initial cost of which would be met by the University.  

In preparation for the construction of the park and ride, the existing sports pitches at 
Angerland were closed in 2003. The University’s sports users transferred largely to new 
facilities at the de Havilland Campus, which opened that same year, whilst local sports 
clubs had to find alternative arrangements elsewhere. The Angerland site remained 
vacant between 2003 and the grant of the park and ride planning permission in 2006. 

The planning permission granted in January 2006 was subject to a Section 106 
agreement requiring a) the construction and operation of the park and ride in 
accordance with agreed details, b) the payment of financial contributions towards the 
design, consultation and implementation stages of parking control schemes in southern 
Hatfield, and c) the replacement of the sports pitches and changing facilities lost due to 
the development, on the remaining southern part of the site. 

During 2005 a planning application (S6/2005/1137/FP) had been submitted by Sport 
Hatfield to provide the replacement sports facilities and in addition, to provide an 
enhanced standard of playing pitch, floodlighting, grandstand and clubhouse facilities 
for the use of Hatfield Town Football Club. The submission of this application fulfilled 
the relevant requirement of the Section 106 Agreement but unfortunately, although 
permission was granted, the scheme was never implemented as the necessary funding 
could not be found. The permission subsequently lapsed. 

Between the lapse of the above permission in 2011 and 2014, discussions took place 
between the Council, the University and local sports clubs (principally Hatfield Town FC 
and Hatfield QE II RFC, under the combined title of the Hatfield Sports Association) with 
a view to putting together a new set of proposals for the replacement facilities at 
Angerland which would enable the University to fulfil its obligations under the Section 
106 whilst providing sustainable sports facilities at that location. 

Page 122



 

Although these discussions culminated in a planning application (S6/2013/1261/MA) 
being submitted and approved, again it proved impossible to raise the necessary 
funding to top-up the University’s financial contribution and complete the development 
to a standard which would make the facilities sustainable in the longer term. Concerns 
were also expressed by some of the potential funding bodies, that Angerland was not 
the most suitable location for sustainable sports facilities to serve the wider community 
of Hatfield. 

In the light of the above, discussion between the parties turned to a possible alternative 
means of mitigating the effect which the construction of the park and ride has had on 
sports facilities serving Hatfield. This entails the University making an appropriate 
financial contribution towards the provision and enhancement of sports facilities in 
Hatfield, without this contribution being tied to provision at the Angerland site. The total 
contribution proposed by the University, and now agreed by the Council, is £1.4 million. 

To adopt such an alternative solution in place of the reinstatement of pitches at 
Angerland requires a formal variation to the legally-binding Section 106 agreement from 
2006. A report to Development Management Committee was written to seek the 
decision of the Council as local planning authority as to whether it supported the 
alternative solution. The Committee agreed this solution on 4th February 2016.  

  

Page 123



 

Appendix Three 

Item Current Scheme Proposed Change 

Small Grant 
Community Fund 

 All applicants for funding must 
demonstrate how their 
application provides 
sustainability to sport/ a sport 
in Hatfield. 

Small Grant 
Community Fund 

Minimum fund application is 
£5,000 

Minimum fund application 
£10,000 

Small Grant 
Community Fund 

Maximum that can be applied 
for £150,000 

Reduce the maximum applied 
for the small grant to £49,999 

Small Grant 
Community Fund 

Applications submitted 
whenever and the board meets 
once application has been 
submitted and reviewed by 
officers 

Application process set over 
three submission periods a 
year; each period will be 
followed by a Board meeting. 

Small Grant 
Community Fund 

Currently no requirement nor 
invitation for applicants to be 
present at board meetings 

Mandatory for applicants to 
provide representation at a 
board meeting to discuss 
application 

Small Grant 
Community Fund 

Pilot projects and events are 
currently accepted as part of 
what could be funded 

Remove pilot projects and 
events from activities that will 
be funded. 

Small Grant 
Community Fund 

Currently there are several 
different priorities for the fund 

Capital projects and 
infrastructure into the sport is 
the priority for applicants 

Small Grant 
Community Fund 

There is currently no need to 
provide this information or 
state why it cannot be funded 
elsewhere 

All applications must clearly 
demonstrate why this project 
cannot be funded elsewhere 

Small Grant 
Community Fund 

Currently applications can be 
submitted without officers 
being aware they are being 
worked on 

All the applications must be 
discussed with one of the 
officers prior to submission 

Major project fund Currently named the major 
project fund 

Change the name of the fund 
to be clear it is just for Rugby 
and Football, to the Sport 
Specific Major Capital Grant 

Major project fund Currently no provision for 
potential applicants to discuss 
or liaise with the Board prior to 
submission 

Provide ability for any 
applicant to come to the Board 
prior to submission to discuss 
the application for 
advice/guidance on what 
would be supported 

Major project fund Currently only advisory that 
National Governing Body of 
sport supports the applications 

Make it clear that any 
submission will require 
representation from the 
National Governing Body to 
support the project 

 

Page 124


	Agenda
	7 INTRODUCTION OF TWO DISABLED BAY PARKING PLACES IN CHURCH STREET, WELWYN
	7a - Appendix A
	7b - Appendix B
	7c - Appendix C
	7d - Appendix D

	8 LOCAL PLAN UPDATE
	8a - CPPP LP Appendix 1 Turley OAN
	8b - CPPP LP Appendix 2 Inspector Letter 2 July
	8c - CPPP LP Appendix 3 Inspector Letter 13 July
	8d - CPPP LP Appendix 4 HOP Letter 27 July
	8e - CPPP LP Appendix 5 Inspector Letter 13 Aug
	8f - CPPP LP Appendix 6 HOP Letter 24 Aug
	8g - CPPP LP Appendix 7 HOP OAN Letter 24 Aug
	8h - CPPP LP Appendix 8 HOP Timetable Letter 24 Aug

	9 MHCLG WHITE PAPER - PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE
	10 NEW PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS
	11 REVIEW OF THE HATFIELD COMMUNITY SPORT FUND



